

D4.3 Guidelines for building adaptation-through-restoration pathways (tested at Pilots)

27/09/2024

WP4 – Task 4.3

Lead beneficiary: Deltares (Task lead: Tom Bucx)

Author/s: Yuting Tai¹, Tom Bucx¹, Mindert de Vries¹, Sara Pino Cobacho¹, Richard Marijnissen¹, Iris van Dongen², Rutger van der Brugge¹, Åse Johannessen¹, Fabienne Horneman^{3,4}, Silvia Torresan^{4,3}, Elisa Furlan^{4,3}, Andrea Critto^{3,4}, Alice Stocco³, Caterina Dabalà⁵, Francesca Cocco⁵, Paolo Comandini⁶, Silvia Frias⁷, Ferran Bertomeu⁷, Carles Ibañez⁷, Laura Puértolas Domènech⁸

¹ Deltares, Delft, the Netherlands

² Spatial Planning / Aquaculture and Marine Resource Management, Wageningen University & Research, the Netherlands

³ Department of Environmental Sciences, Informatics and Statistics, Ca'Foscari University of Venice, Mestre, Italy

⁴ RAAS division, CMCC Foundation - Euro-Mediterranean Center on Climate Change, Marghera, Italy

⁵ CORILA, Consortium for coordination of research activities concerning the Venice lagoon system, Venice, Italy

⁶ Department of Biology, Università degli Studi di Padova, Padova, Italy

⁷ Eurecat, Technology Center of Catalonia, Dept. Climate Solutions and Ecosystem Services, Spain

⁸ Albirem Sustainability, Spain

REST-COAST

Large Scale RESToration of COASTal Ecosystems through Rivers to Sea Connectivity

Prepared under contract from the European Commission Grant agreement No. 101037097 EU Horizon 2020 Coordination and Support Action

Project acronym:	REST-COAST
Project full title:	Large Scale RESToration of COASTal Ecosystems
	through Rivers to Sea Connectivity
Start of the project:	01.10.2021
Duration:	54 months
Project coordinator:	Prof. Agustín Sánchez-Arcilla, Universitat Politècnica De Catalunya (UPC)
Туре:	Restoring biodiversity and ecosystem services
Call:	H2020-LC-GD-2020-3
Deliverable title	Guidelines for building adaptation-through restoration pathways (tested at Pilots)
Deliverable n°	D4.3
Nature of the	Report
deliverable:	
Dissemination level:	Public
WP responsible:	WP4
Lead beneficiary:	Deltares
Citation:	Tai, Y., Bucx, T., de Vries, M. , Cobacho, S.P., Marijnissen, R. J. C., van Dongen, I., van der Brugge, R., Johannessen, Å., Horneman, F., Torresan, S.,



Furlan, E., Critto, A., Stocco, A., Dabalà, C., Cocco, F.,
Comandini, P., Frias, S., Bertomeu, F., & Ibañez,
C., Domènech, L.P. (2024). *Guidelines for building* adaptation-through-restoration pathways (tested at Pilots). Deliverable D4.3. EU
Horizon 2020 REST-COAST Project, Grant agreement
No 101037097

Due date of deliverable:	Month 36°
Actual submission date:	Month 36°

Deliverable status:

Version	Status	Date	Author(s)
1.0	Draft	14 August 2024	Yuting Tai et al.
			Deltares
2.0	Review	23 August 2024	Tom Bucx, Rutger van der Brugge,
			Sara Pino Cobacho, Richard Marijnissen
			Deltares
3.0	Review	17 September 2024	Mindert de Vries, Marjolijn Haasnoot,
			Gaby Langendijk
			Deltares
4.0	Review	20 September 2024	Agustín Sánchez-Arcilla
			UPC
5.0	Final	27 September 2024	Yuting Tai
			Deltares

The content of this deliverable does not necessarily reflect the official opinions of the European Commission or other institutions of the European Union.

Table of Contents

Preface	6
Summary	7
List of abbreviations	
Glossary of key terms	
1 Introduction and background on the adaptation pathway approach	
1.1 Why do we need the adaptation pathway approach for policy support?	
1.2 How to develop adaptation pathways step-by-step?	
2 Generic stepwise approach	
2.1 Understanding the current situation	
2.2 Defining policy objectives	
2.3 Identifying possible adaptation strategies and measures	
2.4 Determining early warning signals and tipping points of adaptation measures	
2.5 Generating the adaptation pathway map (iterative process)	15
2.6 Evaluating pathways with multi-criteria analysis	
2.6.1 Multi-criteria analysis	
2.6.2 Scoring methodology	
3 Restoration pilots (Wadden Sea, Venice Lagoon and Ebro Delta)	
3.1 Wadden Sea	22
3.1.1 Understanding the current situation	
3.1.2 Defining policy objectives	
3.1.3 Identifying possible adaptation strategies and measures	
3.1.4 Determining early warning signals and tipping points of adaptation measures	
3.1.5 Generating the adaptation pathway map	
3.1.6 Evaluating pathways with multi-criteria analysis	
3.2 Venice Lagoon	
3.2.1 Understanding the current situation	
3.2.2 Defining policy objectives	
3.2.3 Identifying possible adaptation strategies and measures	
3.2.4 Determining early warning signals and tipping points of adaptation measures	
3.2.5 Generating the adaptation pathway map	
3.2.6 Evaluating pathways with multi-criteria analysis	42
3.3 Ebro Delta	
3.3.1 Understanding the current situation	
3.3.2 Defining policy objectives	
3.3.3 Identifying possible adaptation strategies and measures	

3.3.4 Determining early warning signals and tipping points of adaptation measures	51
3.3.5 Generating the adaptation pathway map	53
3.3.6 Evaluating pathways with multi-criteria analysis	55
4 Findings and conclusions on the way forward	57
5 Acknowledgements	59
6 References	59
References (General methodology)	59
References (Wadden Sea)	62
References (Venice Lagoon)	64
References (Ebro Delta)	66
Appendix 1 Governance indicators	68
Appendix 2 Overview of key indicators for EWS and TPS (Wadden Sea)	70

Preface

The REST-COAST Project (Large scale RESToration of COASTal ecosystems through rivers to sea connectivity) is an EU Horizon 2020 research project (Grant agreement No. 101037097) whose overall goal is to address with effective and innovative approaches and tools the key challenges faced by coastal ecosystem restoration across Europe. The approach chosen for this project will deliver a highly interdisciplinary contribution, with the demonstration of improved practices and techniques for hands-on ecosystem restoration across several pilot sites, supported by the co-design of innovative governance and financial arrangements, as well as an effective strategy for the dissemination of results.

Work Package 4 (WP4) focuses on the development of scalable adaptation-through-restoration plans (for each pilot of REST-COAST) based on adaptation pathways that incorporate ecosystem services (ESS) and biodiversity value (BDV) from NBS building blocks. It is envisaged that these plans will be suited for upscaling restoration in coastal systems worldwide, supported by the global scale analysis of coastal risks, costs and governance performed in WP 2/3/5. Deliverable 4.3 aims at providing guidelines for building adaptation-through-restoration pathways, based on NBS and technical measures that deliver ESS and BDV gains, tested and validated at the Pilots.

When using the adaptation pathway guidelines, it is important to apply them with flexibility to accommodate the specific needs and contexts of individual pilots. While it is recommended to follow the methodology in Chapter 2—'Generic Stepwise Approach'—to develop pathways, pilots should view these methods as flexible rather than rigid, to fit their unique restoration goals, timelines, environmental and social conditions. Chapter 3—'Restoration Pilots'—serves as a reference to provide insight from three pilots with pilot-specific approaches to build the pathways. The guidelines should be seen as a dynamic tool that can evolve based on feedback, local stakeholder input, or new scientific data, ensuring that each pilot tailors its pathway to address local uncertainties, opportunities, and challenges.

Summary

The adaptation pathway approach has been increasingly used as a powerful tool to support decision-makers to manage uncertainties and adapt strategies over time. It can help with preparing a long-term adaptation plan with clear visions and prioritizing strategies and measures through easily understandable graphic representations. The underlying approach focuses on identifying, appraising, and sequencing adaptation measures through quantitative inputs based on models and scenarios and qualitative inputs through participatory approaches with stakeholders. This guideline document outlines a structured, step-by-step methodology for guiding coastal restoration efforts through sequencing adaptation measures into pathways to achieve near- and long-term objectives. Six main steps are elaborated: 1) Understanding the current situation; 2) Defining the policy objectives; 3) Identifying possible adaptation strategies and measures in the pathway; 4) Determining early warning signals and tipping points of adaptation measures; 5) Generating the adaptation pathway map; and 6) Evaluating pathways with multi-criteria analysis. The generic methodology is designed to be flexible, allowing adjustments based on new information and evolving conditions regarding climate change and/or socio-economic developments, which is crucial for effective long-term planning in dynamic coastal environments. Both quantitative (data-driven) and qualitative (expert judgement and stakeholder participation) approaches are illustrated to develop the narratives of adaptation (through restoration) trajectory and assess the performance of pathways. Building on the Dynamic Adaptive Policy Pathways (DAPP) framework and tailored to the scope of REST-COAST's focus on coastal restoration measures, this guideline emphasizes the impact of adaptation measures on the biophysical performance of ecological systems. Along this trajectory, the definition of tipping points and the evaluation of effectiveness have been adapted to align with this focus, integrating findings from the modelling work in WP2. The pathways are structured to meet specific policy objectives, aligned with different strategies, while also providing a roadmap for scaling up restoration efforts.

This deliverable is produced in close cooperation with many other work packages within REST-COAST, which provides valuable input for several steps. We use modelling findings (WP2) to suggest early warning signals and tipping points of pathways, as well as the evaluation of effectiveness regarding ESS and BDV delivery. We apply the scorecard methodology (M4.2) to process Finance (WP3) and Governance (WP5) indicator data for evaluating pathway alternatives. The methodology is tested and validated with three pilots in this deliverable – the Wadden Sea (Ems-Dollard) pilot, the Venice Lagoon pilot, and the Ebro Delta pilot (WP1). The other pilots within REST-COAST have been applying this methodology to develop their pathways towards upscaling and implementation plans, which will be included in Milestone 19 'Visualization of complete adaptation pathways with multi-scale impacts and accompanying narratives for climate scenarios for the pilot (due M42)'. It has shown that this methodology is generally applicable in coastal restoration practice, by addressing differences regarding data collection and analysis, climate and environmental risks, biophysical and socio-economic conditions, and coastal management policy regimes.

List of abbreviations

ESS	Ecosystem services
BDV	Biodiversity value
FP	Food provisioning
CCR	Climate change regulation
WQP	Water quality purification
RFR	Reduction of coastal flooding risk
RCE	Reduction of coastal erosion risk
NBS	Nature-based Solutions
VSM+E	Visions-Strategies-Measures and Enablers and barriers of restoration efforts
DAPP	Dynamic Adaptive Policy Pathways
EWS	Early warning signal
ТР	Tipping point
SLR	Sea level rise
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
MCA	Multi-criteria analysis
KNMI	Koninklijk Nederlands Meteorologisch Instituut
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
SSP	Shared Socioeconomic Pathways
BaU	Business as Usual
WP	Work package

Glossary of key terms

Adaptation pathway: Sequences (or portfolios) of measures over time to achieve a set of pre-defined objectives under uncertain and changing future conditions. It provides a framework to explore multiple options, assess trade-offs, and make decisions that can be adjusted as new information becomes available (Haasnoot et al., 2013; Werners et al., 2021). The adaptation pathway map is the graphical representation of a set of adaptation pathways.

Solution space: The space within which opportunities and constraints determine why, how, when, and who adapts to climate risks. The solution space is shaped by biophysical, cultural, socio-economic, and political-institutional dimensions at a given moment in time (Haasnoot et al., 2020a).

Policy objectives: The packages (or complete selection) of policy objectives as guiding principles to achieve all described futures (visions).

Adaptation strategies: Clusters of time-dependent adaptation measures, offering actions that outline how a region or sector intends to achieve policy objectives in both spatial and temporal scopes. A Strategy usually encompasses a broad range of (more specific) measures to achieve specific policy objectives (e.g. biodiversity or coastal protection).

Adaptation measures (for coastal restoration): The basic units of construction or composition of coastal restoration efforts that contribute to the delivery of ecosystem services and the biodiversity status of the area, to reduce vulnerability to climate change. Measures can be either Nature Based Solutions (NBS) or technical interventions, that can function alone or put together in synergy with each other for upscaling. In Deliverable 4.2, NBS measures are referred to as NBS Building Blocks which are bounded by/limited with the

key biophysical and socio-economic parameters of coastal restoration sites (Arslan & van Loon-Steensma, 2024).

Projects: Practical, field-based initiatives that involve direct physical interventions to enhance or restore coastal environments.

Early warning signal (Adaptation signal): The adaptive plan requires an associated monitoring system, describing signposts to monitor and related signals that indicate the necessity to implement the next actions. A signal is given if the observed value of a signpost or a combination of signposts reaches a specified critical value (Haasnoot et al., 2018).

Adaptation tipping point (Threshold): An adaptation tipping point is reached when the magnitude of change is such that the system no longer can meet its objectives, and new actions are needed to achieve the objectives (Kwadijk et al., 2010).

Biophysical tipping point: In REST-COAST, the policy objectives are related to the delivery of sufficient ESS and BDV, and decision making is about whether a certain level of changes in the biotope areas and the impact on their ESS and BDV is acceptable. We refer to the biophysical tipping point as the critical threshold at which ecological systems undergo significant changes (e.g. ecological degradation) that can hinder restoration efforts.

Pilots: Specific, real-world sites where innovative coastal restoration and adaptation strategies are tested and implemented. These pilot sites serve as experimental grounds to validate, demonstrate, and refine approaches to large-scale coastal restoration.

1 Introduction and background on the adaptation pathway approach

1.1 Why do we need the adaptation pathway approach for policy support?

Policy making has been facing deep uncertainty due to the lack of knowledge towards uncertain futures and the range of potential impacts such as from climate change. In this regard, adaptation plans are needed to specify actions to be taken to deal with challenges in both the near- and long-term futures. The exploration of adaptation pathways is an essential part in the process of developing adaptation plans. Adaptation pathways are sequences (or portfolios) of actions over time to achieve a set of pre-defined objectives under uncertain and changing future conditions (Haasnoot et al., 2013; Werners et al., 2021). Pathways are part of a policy and planning framework, which incorporates recurring cycles of evaluation of multiple criteria with monitoring to track both policy implementation and any changing conditions. In the context of changes and responses, as discussed by Wise et al. (2014), adaptation pathways are viewed more as an ongoing process rather than a final outcome. The goal is to identify and implement responses that will provide benefits across a range of possible future scenarios.

Developed by Deltares and Delft University of Technology, the **Dynamic Adaptive Policy Pathways (DAPP)** approach has been widely applied as a policy making support tool to deal with the changing conditions such as climate, environmental risks and socio-economic circumstances under deep uncertainty (Walker et al. 2013; Haasnoot et al., 2024). Adaptation pathway planning explicitly addresses decision making over time as conditions change. It provides decision makers with an adaptation roadmap presenting alternative policy pathways (sequences of actions), which makes policy-makers aware of the 'solution space' - the space within which opportunities and constraints determine why, how, when, and who adapts to climate risks (Haasnoot et al., 2020a), and helps to break adaptation into manageable steps over long timescales (i.e. > 50 years), starting with flexible near-term actions to avoid investing too much or too early, or locking in investments. The DAPP approach is built upon the notion that decisions are made over time in dynamic interaction with the system of concern and cannot be considered independently (Haasnoot et al., 2013).

The adaptation pathway approach has been applied worldwide (Haasnoot et al., 2024). It was applied to develop a long-term tidal flood risk management plan for London and the Thames Estuary (*Thames Estuary* 2100 Adaptation Pathway Project), which is followed by New York City and New York State in the municipality's climate action strategy in response to Hurricane Sandy (Rosenzweig & Solecki, 2014). In Australia, adaptation pathways are being piloted for coastal flooding risks by engaging stakeholders through 'Enabling Adaptation Pathways initiative' (Siebentritt & Stafford Smith, 2016), and New Zealand has proposed guidance for coastal adaptation using a similar approach (The Coastal hazards and climate change guidance) (Lawrence et al., 2018). The initial application of Adaptation Pathways in the Netherlands formed part of the Dutch Delta Programme's adaptive delta management approach, aiding in the formulation of flood risk and freshwater availability strategies into the future. It has since assisted with the exploration of long-term adaptation strategies for extreme sea level rise in the Netherlands, among many other applications (van Rhee, 2012). The adaptation pathway approach is presently being widely applied within several of Horizon Europe's Mission Adaptation projects, such as 'Pathways2Resilience', supporting the development of transformational adaptation strategies across European regions and is incorporated as part of this project's Regional Resilience Journey; 'RISES-AM' assessed the impacts of future sea-level rise and the effectiveness of a wide range of adaptation strategies and measures, as well as barriers to implementing adaptation at local, regional and global scales. Furthermore, the adaptation pathway approach has also been applied to better preserve European's cultural heritage from hazards and risks, such as in the ARCH project (Zorita et al., 2023).

1.2 How to develop adaptation pathways step-by-step?

Literature broadly outlines the key steps common in nearly all adaptation pathways approaches with minor variations in the sequence of several steps (Bosomworth et al., 2018; Bosomworth & Gaillard, 2019; Butler et al., 2016; Coulter, 2019; Haasnoot et al., 2013). These steps include: 1) Understanding the current situation; 2) Defining the policy objectives; 3) Identifying possible adaptation strategies and measures in the pathway; 4) Determining early warning signals and tipping points of adaptation measures; 5) Generating the adaptation pathway map; and 6) Evaluating pathways with multi-criteria analysis (Figure 1). The first two steps can be referred to as the 'decision context' for pathway development in the DAPP approach (Haasnoot et al., 2019). Chapter 2 will elaborate on these six steps with a generic methodology to show how to develop adaptation pathways step-by-step. **Pathways can be designed quantitatively using models and/or qualitatively based on expert/stakeholder assessment** (Haasnoot et al., 2024). The quantification process can happen in different steps, such as defining policy objectives, determining tipping points and evaluating the effectiveness of measures. It is important to note that **these steps are to be applied in an iterative process.** It is necessary to **review and adjust the pathways as new information and feedback become available** (Figure 2).



Figure 1: Generic stepwise approach of adaptation pathway development¹

¹ The outlined steps are based on the DAPP (Dynamic Adaptive Policy Pathways) approach and other pathway frameworks but exclude the stages of implementation and monitoring. This exclusion is primarily due to the scope of the REST-COAST project so that the focus of this guideline is on developing the pathway itself. However, recommendations on implementation and monitoring will be covered in D4.4, which will focus on a scalable plan for adaptation through restoration to bridge the implementation gap.



Figure 2: Iterative process of adaptation pathway development

2 Generic stepwise approach

2.1 Understanding the current situation

The first step of the pathway approach is to understand the current system including the system characteristics, and potential constraints in future situations. This step aims to describe 'the problems' or challenges and diagnose approaches to address it that are fit for purpose (at this point in time) (Haasnoot et al., 2019; Bosomworth et al., 2015).

The underlying premise of adaptation planning is that current practice - or 'business-as-usual (BaU)' - will not be sufficient to adapt to environmental and societal challenges such as climate change in the future. In preparing an adaptation pathway, this should be explicitly discussed and determined to ensure that policy objectives are aligned with the understanding of biophysical and socio-economic BaU. Business-as-usual scenarios have long been considered an essential point of reference in policymaking, planning, and investment – a baseline to compare alternative scenarios, or a starting point for analysis of a system. It has been stressed by the UN at the 2023 SDG Summit that the BaU model of development has resulted in dangerous levels of pollution, climate change and biodiversity loss, and has failed to eradicate poverty and inequality. Therefore, new adaptive and sustainable actions in a broader system perspective are urgently needed to deal with current and future challenges, while BaU is no longer an option in policy.

As detailed in D4.1 (Baptist et al., 2024), each pilot has created biotope maps using the EUNIS classification system. Furthermore, homogeneous rank scores of ecosystem services (ESS) and biodiversity value (BDV) indicators are assigned to each EUNIS habitat. We recommend using this information as a reference to describe the current situation as decision context and establish policy objectives of each pilot, such as maintaining biotype area or enhancing ESS and BDV in the near term and long term.

2.2 Defining policy objectives

The pathway development is based on the identification of the objectives, constraints, and uncertainties that are relevant for decision-making. The uncertainties are used to generate an ensemble of plausible futures.

These futures are compared with the objectives to see if problems arise or if opportunities occur. Objectives (and clear targets) are essential for developing adaptation pathways because they define the scope and limits of the issues or systems being addressed. This determines if and when any adaptation thresholds or limits may occur and thus when adaptation is needed. From this analysis, near-term and long-term policy objectives are identified to be the guiding targets of the adaptive plan with specific measures. In practice, as the project's vision broadens in scope and time ('the solution space'), the pathways tend to become more general, focusing on strategic planning. Conversely, a narrower and near-term vision results in more specific pathways that are better suited to guide individual decisions and operational planning, taking into account the specifics of the area considered (Siebentritt & Stafford Smith, 2016). Setting up specific and measurable goals can help decision makers to assess their policies and make feasible plans accordingly. To do so, it is essential to establish and coordinate a multi-disciplinary working group that effectively leverages its expertise alongside local and regional governmental resources for attaining consensus on integrated visions to tackle existing and future challenges.

It is recommended to **do a 'gap analysis' for setting up clear, specific and measurable policy objectives**. Gap analysis in policymaking is a method used to identify the differences between the current state of policies and the desired outcomes or goals. It involves assessing existing policies to determine where they fall short in addressing certain issues or achieving specific objectives. The process helps policymakers pinpoint areas that require improvement, additional resources, or new strategies to bridge the gaps (Chen et al., 2016). By understanding these deficiencies, policymakers can develop more effective plans to meet their objectives and improve overall policy performance.

2.3 Identifying possible adaptation strategies and measures

The adaptation measures are used as the basic elements for the assembly of potential adaptation pathways (a sequence of measures or portfolio of measures), that can be presented in an adaptation pathway map (Haasnoot et al., 2020a). In REST-COAST, adaptation measures refer to the basic units of construction or composition of coastal restoration efforts that contribute to the delivery of ecosystem services and the biodiversity status of the area, to reduce vulnerability to climate change. Measures can be either Nature Based Solutions (NBS) or technical interventions, that can function alone or put together in synergy with each other for upscaling. In Deliverable 4.2, NBS measures are referred to as NBS Building Blocks which are bounded by/limited with the key biophysical and socio-economic parameters of coastal restoration sites (Arslan & van Loon-Steensma, 2024). For example, saltmarsh restoration is an essential measure in coastal management that positively contributes to ESS and BDV. Adaptation strategies are clusters of time-dependent adaptation measures, offering actions that outline how a region or sector intends to achieve policy objectives in both spatial and temporal scopes. A Strategy usually has a specific focus (e.g. biodiversity or socio-economics) and encompasses a broad range of (more specific) measures that are more-or-less similar in the way they affect the region.

As a preparation for this, we have identified a clear storyline in the **VSM+E table** (Visions, Strategies and Measures of restoration efforts as well as Enablers and barriers that facilitate or hinder the efforts), from the overarching vision to sub-visions, strategies, projects and measures (see the Glossary of key terms). It's important to note that, in WP4 we mainly refer to biophysical measures (both NBS and technical interventions on the ground) that contribute to ESS and BDV, while in WP3 and WP5 financial and policy actions are considered enabling factors, paramount for implementation of measures. In some cases it might be necessary to include **a phasing plan of measures** in the pathway map when policy objectives shift over time, such as **implemented measures**, **planned measures**, **upscaling measures** and **new measures**. Each phase can be considered a checkpoint for the re-assessment and update of the pathways. This is often the case in transformation pathways. In the Wadden Sea pilot for example, where the number and total area of restoration projects needs to scale up, it turned out to be useful to set upscaling objectives per phase (see

the example of the Wadden Sea pathway in Section 3.1.5). Here **upscaling refers to the process of expanding** or replicating successful smaller-scale restoration projects to larger areas or more extensive ecosystems based on the policy objectives, feasibility study, impact assessment and landscape characteristics of the new target area.

2.4 Determining early warning signals and tipping points of adaptation measures

Adaptation Tipping Points (ATP) are a key concept in DAPP. An adaptation tipping point is reached when the magnitude of change is such that the system no longer can meet its objectives, and new actions are needed to achieve the objectives (Kwadijk et al., 2010). Both biophysical (Bosomworth et al., 2015) and socio-economic conditions (Van der Brugge & Roosjen, 2015) determine if an adaptation measure can be implemented, or that another measure fits in more easily. An example of a biophysical tipping point is when an estuarine salt marsh cannot retreat because of geological or infrastructure constraints, and becomes permanently inundated under sea level rise scenarios. While the former salt marsh area may transform into a different habitat, its loss will lead to a decline in critical ecosystem services that the salt marsh previously provided, such as coastal protection, carbon sequestration, and habitat for wildlife. A socio-economic tipping point can be the public resistance to certain measures or the lack of funding for plan implementation. In REST-COAST, we mainly refer to the biophysical tipping points in the pathway map, while the socio-economic aspect is assessed with the multi-criteria analysis, by addressing the enablers and barriers of governance indicators as well as financial aspects. Socio-economic conditions might change over time, so they can 'tip' from a constraint to an enabling factor, opening up new pathways. In REST-COAST, the policy objectives are related to the delivery of sufficient ESS and BDV, and decision making is about whether a certain level of changes in the biotope areas and the impact on their ESS and BDV is acceptable. In this context, we use biophysical tipping points to suggest adaptation tipping points, while the management conditions (e.g. finance and governance enablers and barriers) are used to evaluate the pathways based on the four main criteria defined in Section 2.6.1.

To prepare for actions when approaching tipping points, it is essential to recognize the **early warning signals** (adaptation signals) (Haasnoot et al., 2018) when a system changes to a point where existing measures should be reviewed, and new measures should be implemented. An early warning signal should occur before a tipping point being reached, so decision-makers can act upon it in a timely fashion (Siebentritt & Stafford Smith, 2016). Early warning signals are difficult to identify and to act upon. For example, sea level rise might reach a point where a large storm could destroy infrastructure. The early warning is the sea level rise reaching a level at which a management decision needs to be made. While the damage has not occurred yet, action should be taken in order to prevent the tipping point when there is actual failure of the system or it has exceeded its acceptable level or risk (i.e. infrastructure).

There are two approaches to define the biophysical early warning signal and tipping point for each measure – the quantitative approach and the qualitative approach.

In the quantitative approach, we define the biophysical tipping point as 'the critical threshold at which ecological systems undergo significant changes (e.g. ecological degradation) that can hinder restoration efforts' (Lenton et al., 2008). In REST-COAST, we quantify these critical thresholds by using model projections of natural systems (i.e., biotopes) under different climate scenarios and restoration measures. ESS scores of measures are calculated based on changes to ESS supply compared to a baseline scenario to identify tipping points and early warning signals. Specifically, it focuses on determining when a restoration measure loses its acceptable level of effectiveness in terms of ESS supply and needs to be replaced or supplemented by another measure. ESS values are presented as rank-scores, derived from comparisons between different scenarios over time. For the Wadden Sea pilot, we propose that any decrease in ESS scores in a given year should be seen as an early warning signal (e.g. 2020: 0, as it is the reference year, 2030: +0.1, 2050: -0.2, then the early

warning signal appears between 2030 and 2050), while a decrease of 0.5 unit in the overall ESS score for a given scenario compared to a baseline situation can be considered a tipping point (e.g. 2020: 0, 2030: +0.1, 2050: -0.2, 2100: -0.6, then the tipping point is between 2050 and 2100). This score, obtained from the methodology developed by Baptist et al. (2024) and further refined in Milestone 4.2 (Cobacho et al., 2024), identifies tipping points by quantifying changes in biotope coverage and ESS provision. For example, a 1-point reduction on the tipping point scale indicates a loss of over 245,000 hectares in the habitat of 'Faunal communities on full salinity Atlantic littoral coarse sediment'² due to a measure such as 'facilitating natural deposition'. In line with policy objectives that mandate no loss of existing habitats as a result of restoration (Section 3.1.2), early warning signals can be triggered by any negative value, indicating a reduction in ESS supply. Additionally, the threshold for these early warnings and tipping points is flexible, allowing different pilots to adjust them according to their specific policy objectives and pilot needs. Similarly, pilots that will not produce biotope maps, can use this line of thinking to set a suitable threshold based on their direct ESS metrics results (Marijnissen et al., in preparation). Additionally, the biodiversity value (BDV) of the biotopes affected by the measures could be used as a threshold for the tipping points. The BDV approach can also be used to assess the measure's effectiveness in preserving and/or improving local biodiversity by its impact on red list habitats (endangered and vulnerable) (IUCN, 2024) present in the pilot area.

The qualitative method for assessing early warnings and tipping points in adaptation pathways involves using expert judgement, stakeholder input, and existing literature to identify potential indicators and thresholds for system vulnerabilities. This method is crucial when quantitative data or biophysical models are insufficient or unavailable. Qualitative indicators can be identified from literature and adapted to the local context. For instance, a decline in the presence of key species or increased storm frequency could serve as early warning signals. It is important to engage experts and stakeholders to gather insights on the system's vulnerabilities, uncertainties, and thresholds that may signal the need for new actions. This includes consulting ecologists, engineers, policymakers, and local communities who have deep contextual knowledge of the area, through various forms of workshops, interviews, or focus groups.



2.5 Generating the adaptation pathway map (iterative process)

Figure 3: Example of an adaptation pathway map visualized by the pathway generator (Source: Haasnoot, Deltares)

An adaptation pathway map visualizes different possible sequences of measures (as defined in Step 3) to achieve specific policy objectives (as defined in Step 2) under various scenarios. Tools like the Pathways

² https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/habitats/30266

Generator (http://pathways.deltares.nl) support the development of adaptation pathways by integrating expert and stakeholder input with insights from literature or model-based assessments. In this example (Figure 3), starting from the current situation (with current measures), objectives begin to be missed after four years, so then an adaptation tipping point is reached. Following the grey lines of the current plan, one can see that there are four options – NBS measures. Measures A and D should be able to achieve the objectives for the next 100 years in all scenarios. If Measure B is chosen, a tipping point is reached within about five more years; a shift to one of the other three measures (A, C, or D) will then be needed to achieve the objectives. If Measure C is chosen after the first four years, a shift to Measure A, B, or D will be needed after approximately 85 years (following the solid green lines). All the different sequences of measures in time result in a range of adaptation pathways. In this case, 9 pathways have been identified with all the combination options of measures. We recommend pilots to combine pathways that align with the same policy objective / strategy so as to evaluate the pathways with specific criteria, such as the effectiveness of objectives (ESS and BDV) as well as finance / governance enablers and barriers.

The timing of an adaptation tipping point is scenario dependent. This way a plan can be easily adapted in case of new information on changing conditions such as new (climate) scenarios; in which case only the timing of measures needs to be adapted. The concept also helps to stress-test current strategies and identify when new adaptation is needed. Scenarios are used to project possible futures under a range of conditions, especially regarding climate change and socio-economic developments. Scenarios are present in the X axis of the pathway map indicating the changing conditions, for example, sediment availability and sea level rise. There are two ways to generate pathway maps: condition-based (Figure 4) and time-based (Figure 5).



Figure 4: Condition-based: Using adaptation tipping points based on the conditions under which a policy fails. Scenarios are then used to assess the timing of the tipping points. e.g.: sediment volume; sea level rise (Source: Haasnoot, Deltares).



Figure 5: Time-based: Using the timing of adaptation tipping points determined from an analysis of different scenarios. e.g. 100 years (Source: Haasnoot, Deltares).

Visualizations of the pathway map can differ to meet the specific needs of pilots. More exploration of pathway visualizations will be the focus of MS19 'Visualization of complete adaptation pathways with multi-scale impacts and accompanying narratives for climate scenarios for the pilot (due M42)'.

2.6 Evaluating pathways with multi-criteria analysis

The final step is the evaluation of pathways. We developed a general evaluation framework for the main assessment criteria and scoring methodology including the following five parts. In the evaluation of pathways, it is crucial to consider the specific conditions and capacities of each pilot, particularly in terms of data collection and priorities. This flexibility allows for adaptation to the unique context of each pilot project.

- 1. Identify criteria to assess the consequences of each option.
- 2. Organize these criteria by grouping them into high-level and lower-level objectives within a hierarchy.
- 3. Evaluate the expected performance of each measure against the criteria by assigning scores.
- 4. Calculate overall scores by combining and averaging scores to determine an overall value for each pathway.
- 5. Review the results to ensure they align with assumptions, repeating steps if necessary.

2.6.1 Multi-criteria analysis

Multi-Criteria Analysis (MCA) provides a structured approach to assess various alternatives and prioritize multiple options based on a set of criteria. It is particularly useful when decisions involve complex trade-offs between different objectives or when qualitative and quantitative factors need to be considered together, often with a high degree of uncertainty (Belton & Stewart, 2002). When alternative pathways are developed following the previous steps, it is important to evaluate the performance of each pathway to support decision making, whether certain measures are feasible or prioritization is needed with limited budget and time. A multi-criteria analysis with a scoring strategy is applied to evaluate the pathway alternatives. Similar to the pathway design, the evaluation can be done quantitatively using models, or qualitatively relying on expert-judgement using scorecards, or through various forms of stakeholder engagement.

Within the scope of REST-COAST, four main criteria are identified as key for evaluating pathway alternatives: **Effectiveness**, **Feasibility**, **Cost**, and **Flexibility** (Singh et al., 2021; Van der Brugge & Roosjen, 2015; Haasnoot et al., 2020b). These four main criteria are further developed into sub-criteria that are aligned with the indicators developed by other work packages within REST-COAST - WP4.1 ESS scoring, WP3 Finance indicators and WP5 Governance indicators. The definitions and scopes of these criteria are summarized in the table (Table 1).

Criteria	Sub-criteria	Description	Indicators
Effectiveness (in ESS & BDV delivery)	Reduction of coastal erosion risk (RCE) Reduction of coastal flooding risk (RFR)	Whether the measure contributes to slowing down the process of coastal erosion. Whether the measure contributes to reducing flood risks.	Reduction of coastal erosion risk (RCE) Reduction of coastal flooding risk (RFR)
	Water quality	Whether the measure contributes to	Water quality purification
	purification	decreasing turbidity by removing	(WQP)

Table 1: Multi-criteria based on ESS, BDV, Finance and Governance indicators

	(WQP)	nutrients and other pollutants in the water.	
	Climate change regulation (CCR)	Whether the measure contributes to climate change regulation such as carbon sequestration.	Climate change regulation (CCR)
	Food provisioning (FP)	Whether the measure contributes to food provisioning for ecosystems, e.g. fish abundance and composition.	Food provisioning (FP)
	Biodiversity value (BDV)	Whether the measure contributes to enhancing the biodiversity of species.	Biodiversity value (BDV)
	Technological feasibility	Whether the required technologies and associated human administrative resources are developed and available.	 Technical and organisational feasibility; Experimentation and learning
	Institutional feasibility	Whether institutional support is available, such as governance, institutional capacity and political support.	 Inclusive decision-making; Strategic vision, learning and direction; Coordination and coherence; Capacity and skills; Devolution
Feasibility	Legal feasibility	Are there known legal and regulatory barriers?	 Governance structure and legal alignment; Tenure rights
	Sociocultural feasibility	Whether the measure typically finds acceptance within existing socio- cultural norms, utilise diverse knowledge systems including indigenous and local knowledge.	 Diversity of knowledge, cultures and institutions; Grievance and conflict resolution (trust); Drivers of change: urgency + liveability / wellbeing; Accountability; Leadership
	Total cost	Present value of all costs of the NBS over the project lifecycle. This includes: pre-construction costs (such as design and feasibility studies), construction costs, operational costs and maintenance costs.	• Total cost
Cost	Public funding ratio	The ratio of public funding sources. The higher ratio could indicate the less willingness of the decision maker in approving the project. More private funding sources could enable the project to be sustained in the long term.	• Public funding ratio
	Funding gap	Total cost minus funding secured. The gap could be shown in absolute monetary terms, or in percentages (e.g. 75% is secured, 25% is still open). Funding secured includes both	• Funding gap

		transfers received (grants,	
		donations), as well as revenues	
		generated from the NBS.	
	Cost-	The non-monetary value delivered by	 Cost-effectiveness
	effectiveness	an ESS of a NBS divided by the	
		investment and maintenance costs	
		(also called value for money).	
		The relative ease by which a policy	
		can be adapted to changing	
Elovibility		circumstances. Policies can be	
Flexibility		adjusted or switched to other	
		measures, while the policy objectives	
		will still be achieved.	

2.6.2 Scoring methodology

To effectively evaluate adaptation pathways, a robust scoring methodology based on the multi-criteria analysis (MCA) is essential. This approach allows for the comprehensive assessment of various adaptation measures by systematically considering multiple criteria, as explained in 2.6.1. By assigning scores to each criterion, this methodology facilitates the comparison of diverse adaptation measures, ensuring that decision-makers can prioritize actions that offer the most balanced benefits and trade-offs across different dimensions. The scoring methodology of the four main evaluation criteria is summarized below and detailed in 'M4.2 First application of generic scorecard methodology' (Cobacho et al., 2024).

Effectiveness

For the criterion of 'Effectiveness', the score is used to assess the performance of each measure in the delivery (increase or decrease) of ESS and BDV (Singh et al., 2021). Determining the 'effectiveness' of each measure can be approached through two different methods: the biotope maps and the direct system metrics³. Both methods stem from WP2 (Marijnissen et al., *in preparation*), and further information on the methodology for effectiveness calculation can be found in M4.2 (Cobacho et al., 2024).

The implementation of a restoration measure in a given scenario can vary in effectiveness depending on its impact to ecosystem service provisioning. Additionally, depending on policy objectives, the biodiversity value of an area of interest can also be used to assess effectiveness. This is particularly important when aiming to preserve endangered and vulnerable habitats present in the pilot area, as detailed in D4.1 (Baptist et al., 2024) and based on the IUCN Red List of Endangered species (IUCN, 2024).

Feasibility

The implementation of restoration projects is not always feasible. Feasibility is defined as 'the degree to which measures (projects) are considered possible and/or desirable'. To understand what facilitates adaptation, feasibility is assessed across four dimensions: technological, institutional, legal and socio-cultural feasibility (Singh et al., 2020). In REST-COAST, feasibility is associated with previously defined Governance indicators based on the IUCN Governance Framework adopted in WP5 (see Appendix 1) (Springer et al., 2021;

³ The direct metrics route involves simulating future scenarios through numerical modelling of the system. These modelling exercises conducted by WP2 are meant to provide additional insights using a series of predetermined biophysical indicators that correspond to different REST-COAST ecosystem services.

Van Buuren et al., 2018). Two scale level governance indicators are defined to highlight the different levels of relevance – (higher) pilot/region level or (lower) project/measure level. This categorization is based on different impact indicators at different scale levels, discussed and acknowledged by pilots. Enablers and barriers for each governance indicator are used to assess if the measure is feasible or not. Barriers and enablers are weighted against each other – dominance of enablers means a positive score while dominance of barriers generates a negative score.

Cost

From the comprehensive list of financial indicators developed by WP3 as part of Deliverable 3.3 (Johannessen et al., 2024), we have selected a subset that provides the most relevant information for evaluating the pathways: 'total cost', 'public funding ratio', 'funding gap' and 'cost-effectiveness'. In selecting these indicators, we also considered factors such as (limited) measurability and data availability, as well as the (lack of) potential for data collection at later stages across the various pilots. This resulted in a more simplified approach in which the score of the total cost is assessed based on a relative comparison with other measures – negative score means more costly for that measure (per ha, per year) in the lifetime of the measure; Both 'public funding ratio⁴' and 'funding gap' are assessed as follows: <20%: +2, 20%-40%: +1, 40%-60%: 0, 60%-80%: -1, >80%: -2; 'cost-effectiveness' is used to assess the relative costs (investment and environmental costs) and effects (e.g. reduction in ESS as well as social benefits such as well-being and other social functions) of each measure.

Flexibility

Flexibility refers to the relative ease by which a policy can be adapted to changing circumstances (Mens et al. 2012). Flexibility is seen as a key quality of robust policies in the sense that policies can be adjusted, may be implemented sooner or later, or can be switched to other measures, while the original policy objectives will still be achieved. We use expert judgement (usually by decision makers) to estimate the level of flexibility.

As shown in Table 2, each adaptation measure is assessed semi-quantitatively with a five-point scoring methodology between -2 and +2 for all the sub-criteria for assessing the impact of the measure on each sub-criterion: -2: major negative impact; -1: minor negative impact; 0: neutral or no obvious impact; +1: minor positive impact; +2: major positive impact.

The next step is pathway scoring of the four main criteria that are used to assess pathway alternatives (Table 3). Each pathway is scored by averaging the individual scores of each measure in a pathway. For example, if Pathway 1 consists of measure 1, 2, 3, and 4 then the individual scores of these four measures are averaged to be the score of pathway 1. In this way, the pathway scoring is simplified but **the interdependence and trade-offs between measures need to be addressed**. Similar to the methods for defining early warning signals and tipping points, there are two approaches to assess these criteria and sub-criteria: the **quantitative approach with data-driven assessments** and the **qualitative approach with stakeholder-led assessments**. Data-driven assessments typically use indicators like environmental impact or economic performance, drawing from models, statistical studies, or site-specific testing to directly evaluate the effectiveness and performance of measures. Stakeholder-led assessments, often conducted through participatory workshops, relying on qualitative analysis informed by expert knowledge and experience. It fosters consensus on

⁴ While this scoring method suggests that a higher public funding ratio results in a lower score, it doesn't imply that a higher proportion of public funding is inherently negative. The impact depends on the primary objective of the measure. For example, flood defense is typically prioritized by the government and thus often heavily funded by public sources. On the other hand, farmland raising may attract more private funding to engage local stakeholders, making the funding balance context-dependent.

adaptation plans by integrating diverse perspectives, such as the socio-institutional acceptability of adaptation measures. It enhances understanding of the broader context and interconnections between climate adaptation and environmental risks, while also promoting stakeholder dialogue and cohesion (Zorita et al., 2023).

Table 2: Measure scoring

Criteria	Sub-criteria	Measure (scoring -2 to +2)										
		A1	A2	A3	A4	B1	B2	B3	B4	C1	C2	C3
	Reduction of coastal erosion											
	risk (RCE)											
	Reduction of coastal flooding											
	risk (RFR)											
Effectiveness	Water quality purification											
Encetiveness	(WQP)											ļ
	Climate change regulation (CCR)											ļ
	Food provisioning (FP)											
	Biodiversity value (BDV)											
	AVERAGE											
	Inclusive and effective decision-											
	making											
	Recognition and respect for											
	tenure rights											
	Capacity and skills											
	Technical and organisational											
	feasibility											
	Leadership											
	Experimentation and learning											
	Governance structure and legal											
Feasibility	alignment											
	Diversity of knowledge, cultures											
	Strate size vision learning and											
	direction											
	Coordination and cohorence											
	Cool dillation and conflict											
	resolution (trust)											
	Drivers of change											
	Devolution											
	Accountability											
	Total cost (e.g. per ha / per											
	vear)											
Cost	Public funding ratio											
	Funding gap											
	Cost-effectiveness	t					t		t			
	AVERAGE											
Flexibility	Flexibility											

Table 3: Pathway scoring

Criteria	Pathway 1	Pathway 2	Pathway 3		
	e.g. A1+A2+A3+A4	e.g. B1+B2+B3+B4	e.g. C1+C2+C3		
Effectiveness	AVERAGE(A1:A4)	AVERAGE(B1:B4)	AVERAGE(C1:C3)		
Feasibility AVERAGE(A1:A4)		AVERAGE(B1:B4)	AVERAGE(C1:C3)		
Cost	AVERAGE(A1:A4)	AVERAGE(B1:B4)	AVERAGE(C1:C3)		
Flexibility	AVERAGE(A1:A4)	AVERAGE(B1:B4)	AVERAGE(C1:C3)		

3 Restoration pilots (Wadden Sea, Venice Lagoon and Ebro Delta)

3.1 Wadden Sea

3.1.1 Understanding the current situation



Figure 6: Current situation of Ems-Dollard (source: Ems-Dollard 2050 Programme)

The Wadden Sea, a UNESCO World Heritage Site, is renowned for its expansive tidal flat system and largely intact natural dynamics (Gadsden et al., 2022). It is a critical habitat for migratory birds, providing foraging grounds, stopover points during seasonal migrations, and nesting sites. Conservation of the Wadden Sea is a shared responsibility across the Netherlands, Germany, and Denmark. The region consists of interconnected tidal basins, each featuring unique elements such as salt marshes, tidal flats, gullies, barrier islands, and ebb-tidal deltas. The Ems-Dollard represents one of the final remaining fully functional estuaries of the Netherlands in which saltwater gradually transitions into freshwater (Vroom et al., 2024). The estuary was formed around the 14th-15th century as a result of storm surges. In the centuries that followed, large areas around the Ems-Dollard have been drained to form polders, which has resulted in the loss of intertidal areas and habitats (Talke & de Swart, 2006). Due to regular dredging and resuspension, the low energetic regions where mud can settle and consolidate in periods of calmer conditions (i.e. the marshes and upper tidal flats) were converted to polders. The turbidity level of the waters of the Ems-Dollard has increased, resulting in

decreasing ecological carrying capacity and biodiversity (Van Maren et al., 2016). An additional stressor for the Ems-Dollard estuary is sea level rise (SLR). Salt marshes are particularly vulnerable to SLR, which in severe cases can lead to marsh submergence or 'drowning' (Vinent et al., 2021). Freshwater availability is another critical concern, with the growing threat of seawater intrusion exacerbated by both SLR and land subsidence (Talke & de Swart, 2006). Without intervention to mitigate saltwater encroachment (which could occur within the next decade in some areas), many agricultural lands in the region will likely become unsuitable for farming due to increased soil salinity (Ems-Dollard 2050 Programme).



Figure 7: EUNIS habitat map showing the biotopes present in the Ems-Dollard estuary (Baptist et al., 2024)

The EUNIS habitat map of the Ems-Dollard estuary, as shown in Figure 7 was produced in Deliverable 4.1 (Baptist et al., 2024) and can be used to inform the future review of policy objectives. Deliverable 4.1 identified the biotopes present in the Ems-Dollard pilot site, assigning each biotope values for ecosystem services (ESS) and biodiversity value (BDV). Given that one of the main policy goals for the Ems-Dollard pilot site is to prevent degradation of existing biotopes (Section 3.1.2), D4.1 provides a baseline for evaluating future policy effectiveness. This evaluation can be guided by monitoring spatial changes in biotopes, reflecting the impact of restoration measures and climate change.

3.1.2 Defining policy objectives

In the Wadden Sea pilot, the long-term policy objective (overarching vision) is 'Ecology and Economy in balance', as stated in the *Ems-Dollard 2050 programme* (ED2050) (Figure 8): 'In 2050, the Ems-Dollard is a robust and resilient estuary with fitting dimensions and natural dynamics, healthy habitats and smooth

transitions, natural turbidity and sufficient food at the base of the food chain.' The multi-year adaptive program Ems-Dollard 2050 was initiated in 2016, in which the government and the regional stakeholders structurally work together on the ecological improvement of the Ems-Dollard through projects, measures and research. The programme is part of the *Agenda for the Wadden Area 2050* and included in the *Wadden Implementation Agenda 2021-2026*.



Figure 8: Projects in the Ems-Dollard 2050 Programme

The Ems-Dollard 2050 programme has highlighted three policy objectives:

- Reducing turbidity (20-50% reduction in turbidity in the central area of the estuary) by removing at least 1 million tons of fine sediment (dry matter) annually;
- Expansion of natural habitats (approx. 600-2000 ha along the shores);
- Adapting to climate change, especially preventing any losses in the area of existing habitats and associated ecosystem service value, due to sea level rise or other climate-related impacts.

Although the Ems-Dollard 2050 programme has stressed the ultimate goal of improving the ecological value of the Wadden coast and its estuarine environment, two other policy objectives are of equal importance to achieve the vision of 'Ecology and Economy in balance'. These two additional objectives are:

- Enhancing flood safety resilience against climate change induced sea level rise and storm events;
- Enhancing agricultural productivity.

3.1.3 Identifying possible adaptation strategies and measures

In the policy agenda, the **Groeidelta (Growing Delta) Programme** – led by the Province of Groningen as an initiative plan of the Ems-Dollard 2050 Programme, has been recently signed to specify the adaptation strategies and measures for the coming decade (2027-2037). We have identified three main strategies (or three pillars) based on the Groeidelta Programme that aligns with the overall vision of **'Ecology and Economy in balance'** (Figure 9). Each strategy has been further developed with several hands-on pilot projects. Each project includes one or more measures (NBS and technical interventions) (see Annex 1). Near- and long-term strategies and measures are needed to achieve the policy objectives. Although these three main strategies are developed in parallel with separate funding arrangements, they are still very much interdependent on each and have to be implemented together to achieve the overarching objective. For example, farmland raising (Strategy A) and coastal protection (Strategy B) are all dependent on the sediment extraction and reuse.



Figure 9: Areas for farmland raising (orange shade), clay ripening for the Dollard dike reinforcements (grey shade) and the natural silt trap (green shade) (Source: Groeidelta)

Strategy A. Agricultural productivity by farmland raising

To address the challenges posed by sea level rise and saltwater intrusion, the first strategy involves reusing sludge from the Eems-Dollard (sediment suspended in the water column) as material to raise low-lying agricultural land. Sludge was first applied to an agricultural plot of approximately 4 hectares near Borgsweer in 2021 (Ems-Dollard 2050 Programme). This project demonstrated that sludge from the Ems-Dollard is effective in raising low-lying soils, which supports agriculture in coastal areas. The approach has gained interest and support from over 30 local farmers. The concept has been developed for a target area of around

300 to 500 hectares, and the VLOED⁵ exploration suggests that up to 3000 to 5000 hectares in the region could potentially be raised using this method, contributing to the creation of climate-resilient coastal agriculture (Figure 10).



Figure 10: Project 'Vloed' (www.eemsdollard2050.nl)

Measures of Strategy A:

- M-A1 Sediment removal (from harbor)
- M-A2 Farmland raising with local sediment (near term goal: 300-500 ha)
- M-A3 Farmland raising with other sources (long term goal: 3000-5000 ha)
- M-A4 Aquaculture and salt-tolerant agriculture

Strategy B. Coastal protection by sediment reuse

In the province of Groningen, there is a significant demand for clay to reinforce primary and regional flood defenses (A. Vos, *personal communication*). Typically, clay for such projects is sourced from river areas, which incurs high transport costs and CO₂ emissions. Additionally, suitable clay for dike construction is becoming increasingly scarce and expensive in the Netherlands. The Clay Ripening (Kleirijperij) and the Wide Green Dike (Brede Groene Dijk) (Figure 11) demonstration projects, conducted between 2018 and 2022, explored the feasibility of maturing sludge from the port of Delfzijl and the Breebaart polder into clay, and using matured dredged material from the Ems-Dollard as dike clay. Both projects confirmed that dredged material from the Ems-Dollard as dike clay. Both projects confirmed that dredged material from the Ems-Dollard as dike clay. Both projects confirmed that dredged material from the Ems-Dollard as dike clay. Both projects confirmed that dredged material from the Ems-Dollard as dike clay. Both projects confirmed that dredged material from the Ems-Dollard as dike clay. Both projects confirmed that dredged material from the Ems-Dollard as dike clay. Both projects confirmed that dredged material from the Ems-Dollard can be matured efficiently, making it a viable building material for dikes. This approach promotes more sustainable soil management and enhances circularity within the national dike reinforcement program. The near-term goal is to reinforce the 15km Dollarddijk, with a long-term goal of application along other sections of local flood defences.

⁵ VLOED refers to Verbetering Landbouwgronden door Ophoging met slib uit de Eems-Dollard (Improvement of agricultural land by raising it with silt from the Eems-Dollard).



Figure 11: Project 'Wide Green Dike' (www.eemsdollard2050.nl)

Measures of Strategy B:

- M-B1 Facilitating natural deposition
- M-B2 Clay ripening
- M-B3 Biodiverse dike reinforcement (near term goal: 15 km Dollarddijk; long term goal: dike extension)
- M-B4 Other measures for coastal protection (e.g. traditional dikes with asphalt)

Strategy C. Natural restoration by sediment capture

The third strategy aims at restoring natural dynamics by creating a culvert in the sea dike which allows for a controlled inundation of the area behind the primary barrier driven by tidal regimes, as shown in the Twin Dike (Dubbele Dijk) project (Figure 12). The natural process of sedimentation driven by the deposition of suspended particles carried by the controlled tide will enable low-lying coastal areas to naturally rise over time, keeping pace with expected sea level rise. This approach fosters the development of a dynamic coastal landscape, providing a gradual transition between freshwater and saltwater environments. Moreover, the design of this area offers the chance to establish breeding bird islands, surrounded by water channels, ensuring protection from land predators. The focus for this measure is on the region between Delfzijl and Termunten, the part of the coast with lowest elevation and rapidly subsiding lands. This area also marks the beginning of the Groote Polder development, which will allow for the natural expansion of sludge collection across several hundred hectares. The Groote Polder represents the first step towards scaling up these efforts.



Figure 12: Project 'Twin Dike' (www.eemsdollard2050.nl)

Measures of Strategy C:

- M-C1 Tidal area restoration (with culvert in the sea dike and saltmarsh within the dike)
- M-C2 Saltmarsh outside the dikes (near term goal: 300 ha new habitat area; long term goal: 600-2000 ha new habitat area)
- M-C3 Nesting islands

3.1.4 Determining early warning signals and tipping points of adaptation measures

Corresponding with the three strategies described in Section 3.1.3., this section aims to identify the quantitative indicators for a set of five measures through a literature study on the Ems-Dollard estuary. This set consists of the following measures: A2 Farmland raising with local material, B2 Clay ripening, B3 Biodiverse dike reinforcement, C2 Saltmarsh outside the dikes and C3 Nesting islands. In the end, using the acquired metrics, early warning signals (EWs) and tipping points (TPs) can be identified that will inform the adaptation pathway. The outcomes from the literature review are summarised in the table displayed in Appendix 2.

After thorough examination of the literature, it becomes apparent that **sea level rise (SLR)**, **saltwater intrusion** and **freshwater availability** are key indicators to be translated into the adaptation pathways. How these trends progress into the future has been tackled in the KNMI'23 report on climate scenarios. The climate scenarios presented by the KNMI'23 are a translation from the projections by the IPCC, but do show some differences in how exactly these are communicated. To give an example, the low range opted for by the KNMI coincides with the SSP1-1.9 and SSP1-2.6 scenarios formulated by the IPCC. Similarly, the high range refers to the SSP3-7.0 and SSP5-8.5. Another important consideration is that the KNMI'23 displays local data rather than global data. Nevertheless, the local data may be synonymous with global trends regarding climate change implications.

Regarding Strategy A. Agricultural productivity by farmland raising, SLR, saltwater intrusion and freshwater availability are key challenges that need to be addressed. Among which, the risk for saltwater intrusion is one of the most pressing issues for agricultural production (Deltares, 2023). Seepage with high salinity content is one of the causes for damage to crops. Particularly soils containing sand layers are most likely to experience

saltwater intrusion. In such instances, reducing this risk requires a precipitation lens of at least 100 mm of freshwater and thickness of at least 1.25 m (Sweco, 2022). Mainly in drier periods (Apr-Sept), soils run the risk of becoming more saline due to higher evaporation levels. If the precipitation lens amount and thickness fall below these numbers, saline groundwater may seep into the root system of crops, thereby hindering their water uptake. In addition to the minimal depth and thickness of the precipitation lens, another critical factor indicating potential damage is the chloride concentration in seepage groundwater. Specifically, when chloride concentration levels exceed 1 g/L, the risk of salt stress in plant root systems increases (Deltares, 2023). This risk is especially prevalent in scenarios that predict higher overall temperatures and drier years (KNMI, 2023; Deltares, 2023). The measures of 'sediment removal (A1)', 'clay ripening (B2)', 'farmland raising with local material (A2)', and 'biodiverse dike reinforcement (B3)' show strong inter-dependency between each other as A2 and B3 rely on reusing the local material produced by A1 and B2, which suggests that their EWS and TPs are also related. It is important to note here that the clay ripening process is strongly dependent on the salinity level. More specifically, the salinity content of the clay to be applied should not exceed 4 g/L/NaCl (Ecoshape, 2022). Going beyond this level will render the clay inappropriate to be used for application on dikes (Technische Adviescommissie voor de Waterkeringen, 1996). The salinity level of clay is also relevant for agriculture. Therefore, it is recommendable to desalinize the clay before considering applying the material for farmland raising (Sweco, 2022). Another option is to investigate the potential of growing more salt-tolerant crops.

As part of Strategy B. Coastal protection by sediment reuse, measures such as 'clay ripening (B2)' and 'biodiverse dike reinforcement (B3)' return. As with farmland raising, the clay ripening process is also shown to depend on changes in **freshwater availability**. More specifically, the capacity for clay ripening may decrease in periods with a **precipitation deficit** as the clay must be flushed with freshwater as part of the ripening process to reduce NaCl concentrations. As the KNMI'2023 projections show, precipitation deficits are most likely to occur in the summer period running from April through September. Therefore, in order to facilitate the clay ripening process, one should carefully examine the season in which to conduct clay ripening. Preferably in seasons with a minimal precipitation deficit.

In the end, throughout the clay ripening process, mixing freshwater with salt water was not found to have any significant effect on declining salinity levels. But the mixing did result in the desired clay plasticity necessary for dike reinforcement (Ecoshape, 2022). For the subsequent measure 'biodiverse dike reinforcement (B3)', local material to be used for dike construction is dependent on a total of nine criteria (Technische Adviescommissie voor de Waterkeringen, 1996):

- 1. Clay must have an erosion class of II or I
- 2. Consistency index of at least 0.6
- 3. Local material has to be naturally deposited
- 4. Max. sand content of <63 μm
- 5. Organic matter <5% after hydrogen peroxide treatment
- 6. Lime content <25%
- 7. Salinity content <4 g/L/NaCl
- 8. No significant admixture of rubble nor gravel (sand content <40%)
- 9. Only slight to no discoloration of clay material

Lastly, Strategy C. Natural restoration by sediment capture with measures 'saltmarsh outside the dikes (C2)' and 'Nesting islands (C3)'. In both measures, the SLR is a prominent challenge. Generally, the rate of SLR is projected to increase under future scenarios (KNMI, 2023). More specifically, under RCP2.6 a projected increase in SLR is estimated in the range of 0.25-0.41 m, for RCP4.5 this range is estimated to be 0.27-0.52 m and in the most extreme scenario (RCP8.5), this range is estimated to be 0.36-0.76 m for the Wadden Sea alone (Vermeersen *et al.*, 2018). In relation to measure C2, salt marshes require sediment deposits as per

inundation, which allows them to grow along with the rising sea level (Kirwan and Megonigal, 2013; Bunzel *et al.*, 2021; Leuven *et al.*, 2019; Kirwan *et al.*, 2016; Temmerman *et al.*, 2003). Although salt marshes can benefit from flooding, excessive periods of flooding can negatively impact the vegetation (e.g. plant growth and its productivity) and nesting potential of birds. In addition, to maintain growth in relation to SLR is only possible when the sea level does not rise too quickly, hence allowing salt marshes to increase in elevation by sediment deposition. A key threshold value to consider here for the Ems-Dollard case is a **SLR rate between 10-50 mm/y** (Kirwan *et al.*, 2016). Salt marshes can generally survive these rates, but exceeding this threshold value may present a permanently flooded plain, causing a loss of saltmarsh habitat. With respect to the measure 'Nesting islands (C3)', SLR and change in storm frequency are key indicators (Erwin *et al.*, 2006). **Seasonality of inundation** here may also add to the vulnerability, since marsh flooding during the nesting period in July, may impact the success rate of the offspring's survival. As is the case for measure C2, longer periods of inundation will cause degradation, which in the long-term may impact nesting habitats as the vegetation composition is altered.

Now that the biophysical indicators have been established, it is important to see if and when early warning signals or tipping points may be reached for their respective pathways. Important to note here is that the KNMI'23 scenarios predict an overall **increasing trend for SLR**, **temperature**, **saltwater intrusion risk** and occurrence of **extreme weather events** alternated with periods of **extensive droughts** (KNMI, 2023). With respect to the measure 'farmland raising with local sediment (A2)', a hotter and drier trend can be detected, which ultimately influences the ability of precipitation lenses to block the saline groundwater seepage (Deltares, 2023). Another trend that can be detected is for freshwater availability. The delta scenarios indicate that for 2050 and 2100, water shortage occurrence may increase as a result of climate change (e.g. SLR, more evaporation due to higher temperatures, etc.). In addition, less space will become available for freshwater production (RIVM, 2023).

Starting with the SLR, **no EWS nor TP can be pointed out for the measure 'saltmarsh outside the dikes (C2)'**. The modelling exercise demonstrates that suspended sediment concentrations will continue to increase throughout the period up until 2100. As concluded in Fagherazzi *et al.* (2012) and Kirwan *et al.* (2016), such increased sediment input will result in **natural accretion of the saltmarsh that is able to withstand SLR** even in the most extreme scenario (SSP585). Hence, the saltmarsh is projected to expand in light of increasing SLR scenarios rather than drown. For the other cases, pinpointing the exact EWS and TP remains complex as well. For instance, in determining future freshwater availability, one has to balance the freshwater amount against evaporation rates, riverine discharge and precipitation amounts (RIVM, 2023). Each of these factors contains different variables or show rough estimates that are not compatible. A similar observation can be made for measure 'Nesting islands (C3)'. In this case, the estuary's morphology (e.g. depth of the mouth), sediment supply and SLR play an important role as these variables affect the tidal range (Leuven *et al.*, 2019). Since these parameters differ per coastal ecosystem, it is hard to generalise future projections for this range. Therefore, it is important to consider the spring tides or storm frequency by means of Northwestern wind directions. According to the KNMI'23 report, Northwestern wind directions are indicative of storms.

3.1.5 Generating the adaptation pathway map



Figure 13: The adaptation pathway map of Ems-Dollard, with a condition-based scenario of SLR

Three pathways have been formulated based on three distinct strategies, each differing primarily in their policy objectives (see 3.1.3) (Figure 13). The adaptation process is structured into four phases, illustrating the progression of measures over time to meet these objectives: Phase 1: implemented measures; Phase 2: planned measures; Phase 3: upscaling measures; Phase 4: new measures (when existing measures are not sufficient to achieve adaptation objectives anymore). Each phase is associated with a certain percentage of the policy objectives being met, ultimately aiming for 100% achievement in the long term. Phase 2, highlighted in red, coincides with the Groeidelta programme, with some restoration goals extending into Phase 3 through the scaling-up of measures. Several hands-on projects are listed for each measure (in grey) that can lead to potential upscaling. We combine a timeline with a condition-based scenario in the X-axis, by referring to the SLR under fast climate change scenario (SSP585). Various climate change indicators can be mapped, such as sea-level rise, which is crucial for assessing the effectiveness of saltmarshes and nesting islands. Other indicators, like freshwater availability, storm frequency, and salinity, are more relevant for identifying early warning signals and tipping points associated with other measures.

Measure name WP2	Measure name WP4	Climate scenario	2030	2050	2100
Extraction Delfzijl	A1 Sediment extraction from harbour		0.38	1.27	1.34
Brushwood Groynes	B1 Facilitating natural	SSP585	1	1.55	0.83

0.85

1.87

0.89

deposition

Groote Polder

C1 Tidal area restoration

Table 4: Overview of quantitative values for assessing tipping point and early warnings derived from the Baptist et al. (2024) methodology.

Based on model simulations, no biophysical early warning signals or tipping points were detected, as all measures proved effective in supporting ESS and BDV, although the effectiveness of B1 and C1 becomes less after 2050 (Table 4). A literature review of each measure, aligned with projected climate scenarios, indicates that they are expected to remain functional until 2100, continuing to meet policy objectives that are set in the Ems-Dollard 2050 Programme (Appendix 2). Consequently, all measures are represented as effective in the pathway map. However, key indicators for potential early warning signals and tipping points beyond 2100 are illustrated. Additionally, some transfer points within each pathway (e.g., from A2 to A3 and A4; from B2 to B3 to B4) indicate a sequential implementation of measures, enhancing their effectiveness through a phased approach.

3.1.6 Evaluating pathways with multi-criteria analysis

Using the multi-criteria analysis methodology, as detailed in M4.2 First application of generic scorecard methodology (Cobacho et al., 2024), we have evaluated and assigned scores for each criterion across the various measures (see Table 5). The 'Effectiveness' of some measures (A1, B1 and C1) is scored based on ESS changes (as of 2050 compared to 2020). The criteria of 'Feasibility', 'Cost' and 'Flexibility' are scored based on several semi-structured interviews with experts from the Province of Groningen. It is important to note that the Groeidelta Programme has adopted a 'blended finance' model in which several restoration measures are grouped into overarching strategies and the financial data is only available at the strategy (pathway) level. Therefore, all measures within each pathway are scored identically for the sub-criteria of 'cost'. By examining the three pathways against four criteria (Table 6), we can derive several insights.

Criteria	Sub-criteria				N	leasure	(scoring	g -2 to +	2)			
		A1*	A2	A3	A4	B1*	B2	B3	B4	C1*	C2	C3
	Reduction of coastal erosion risk (RCE)	+ 0.52	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ 0.63	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ 0.76	N/A	N/A
	Reduction of coastal flooding risk (RFR)	+ 0.42	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ 0.58	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ 0.69	N/A	N/A
	Water quality purification (WQP)	+ 0.52	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ 0.63	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ 0.76	N/A	N/A
Effectiv eness	Climate change regulation (CCR)	+ 0.52	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ 0.63	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ 0.76	N/A	N/A
	Food provisioning (FP)	+ 0.52	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ 0.63	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ 0.76	N/A	N/A
	Biodiversity value (BDV)	+2	N/A	N/A	N/A	+2	N/A	N/A	N/A	+2	N/A	N/A
	AVERAGE	+ 0.75	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ 0.85	N/A	N/A	N/A	+ 0.96	N/A	N/A
	Inclusive and effective decision- making	+1	+1	+1	+1	-1	+1	-1	+1	+1	-1	+1
Feasibil ity	Recognition and respect for tenure rights	+1	+2	+2	+1	-1	+1	+1	+1	+1	-1	+1
	Capacity and skills	0	+2	+2	+1	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2
	Technical and organisational feasibility	-1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1
	Leadership	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1

Table 5: Measure scoring

	Experimentation and learning	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	-1	+1	+1	+1	+1
	Governance structure and legal alignment	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Diversity of knowledge, cultures and institutions	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Strategic vision, learning and direction	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1
	Coordination and coherence	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1
	Grievance and conflict resolution (trust)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Drivers of change	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Devolution	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1
	Accountability	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2
	AVERAGE	+ 0.57	+ 0.93	+ 0.93	+ 0.79	+ 0.57	+ 0.86	+ 0.57	+ 0.86	+ 0.86	+ 0.57	+ 0.86
	Total cost (per ha)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cost	Public funding ratio	-1	-1	-1	-1	-2	-2	-2	-2	-2	-2	-2
COSC	Funding gap	-2	-2	-2	-2	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2	+2
	Cost-effectiveness	N/A										
	AVERAGE	-1	-1	-1	-1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Flexibil ity	Flexibility	-2	-1	-1	+1	+1	0	-2	+1	-1	+1	+1

Table 6: Pathway scoring

Criteria	Pathway 1	Pathway 2	Pathway 3			
	avg. (A1+B2+A2+A3+A4)	avg. (A1+B1+B2+B3+B4)	avg. (C1+C2+C3)			
Effectiveness	+0.75	+0.8	+0.96			
Feasibility	+0.82	+0.69	+0.76			
Cost	-0.8	-0.2	0			
Flexibility	-0.6	-0.4	+0.33			

Effectiveness

The effectiveness score of the measures and pathways is based on the ESS and BDV scores under the high climate change scenario (SSP585) in 2050 compared to the baseline conditions of ESS and BDV in 2020. The year 2050 was chosen to provide a mid-term evaluation, as long-term projections are more uncertain, and to align with the objectives of the Ems-Dollard 2050 programme. The positive effectiveness values for the modelled measures (A1, B1 and C1) and all pathways are primarily due to the projected expansion of biotopes in the pilot area resulting from restoration measures. This expansion leads to increased contributions to ESS and BDV, as larger areas of these biotopes enhance biodiversity and the provision of ecosystem services. The biotope expansion is specifically driven by the growth of marshes and the infralittoral zone in response to

restoration measures, a process accelerated by sea level rise. The complex sedimentary dynamics behind this marsh expansion are influenced by a number of interacting physical factors in the Ems-Dollard estuary, which are discussed in detail in Deliverable 2.3 (Marijnissen et al., *in preparation*). The other measures that are not modelled are marked as data not available (N/A). To allow comparison between pathways with the same method, we didn't use other (qualitative) methods for assessing the effectiveness of other measures.

Feasibility

All measures show similarly positive scores in terms of governance indicators regarding feasibility, which represents a strong capacity and skills, social engagement and governance structure in both horizontal (across sectors) and vertical (international, national, regional and local) levels. Farmland raising shows a slightly higher score due to the higher involvement of local residents and strong interests from the farmers. By comparing three pathways, pathway 1 scores slightly higher, bolstered by robust societal support and a participatory approach to farmland raising, particularly among local communities. In contrast, the other two pathways follow a more top-down approach with non-negotiable objectives, such as enhancing flood resilience through dike reinforcement.

Cost

Due to the 'blended finance' model adopted by the Groeidelta Programme, several restoration measures are grouped into overarching strategies and the financial data is only available at the strategy (pathway) level. Therefore, all measures within each pathway are scored identically for the sub-criteria of 'cost'. Three strategies (A, B and C) have the same estimated budget (100 million euros for each strategy) in the coming 10 years between 2027 and 2037. Therefore, the relative total cost score is 0 (neutral in comparison to each other). Funding of Strategy B and C are 100% secured with all public funding sources, while Strategy A has only 20% funding secured with more involvement and potential involvement of private funding. The measures are scored according to the scoring criteria (in Section 2.6.2). For the moment of this report, cost-effectiveness is not yet clear. We expect to update when data becomes available. By averaging the measure scores for each criteria, pathway 1 scores negatively due to financial constraints. Specifically, farmland raising has a significant funding gap of 80%, whereas the other two pathways are fully funded, primarily through public sources. To advance Pathway 1, more private funding sources need to be secured.

Flexibility

Certain measures within the pathways are less adaptable due to their fixed objectives and constraints imposed by other functions - for example, sediment removal and dike reinforcement. Measures dependent on external factors, such as farmland raising with local materials, show lower flexibility, as they rely on sediment availability, quality, and land use regulations. Consequently, Pathway 1 demonstrates the least flexibility compared to the other two pathways.

3.2 Venice Lagoon

3.2.1 Understanding the current situation

Since its foundation, the Venetian Republic considered Venice and its lagoon as a single entity, and Venice as the centre of a wide and productive commercial and residential system that should be carefully preserved in all its components (Deheyn & Shaffer, 2007). From a hydrodynamic point of view the lagoon is a micro tidal basin; within which the major wind systems - i.e. Bora and Scirocco - significantly impact the hydrodynamics and morpho-dynamics of the lagoon, with seasonal wind-storm events exerting a prominent morpho-dynamic control over decadal to centenary timescales (Carniello et al., 2009; Finotello et al., 2023; Janowski

et al., 2020). The dynamic interaction between the morphology and the hydrodynamics creates a complex mosaic of coastal environments, including saltmarshes, seagrasses, wetlands, mudflats, islands, and ponds (Carniello et al., 2009; Ravera, 2000; Rova et al., 2022).

Over the last centuries, the hydrodynamics of the lagoon were severely affected by anthropogenic interventions - including the diversion of the major rivers, dredging of navigable channels and the construction of the jetties, extensive land reclamation, human induced subsidence - which subsequently critically impacted the lagoons' morphological evolution (Finotello et al., 2020, 2023; Solidoro et al., 2010). Therefore, the Venice Lagoon is at risk of losing a substantial amount of characteristic habitats (Figure 14A), inevitably resulting in biodiversity loss and the depletion of ecosystem services.



Figure 14: Understanding the current situation: A) change in the distribution of saltmarshes and mudflats between 1887 and 2014 (Finotello et al., 2023); B) EUNIS habitat map displaying the current distribution of biotopes; and C) REST-COAST focus area displaying the degradation of the saltmarshes and their proposed perimeter for restoration.

In the early 70s the national and local governments started to systematically address the safeguarding of Venice and its lagoon, including the introduction of the Special Law of Venice by the Italian government. These rules define objectives, the procedures for achieving them and the responsibilities of the various subjects implementing the interventions. The difficulty with this required restoration of the lagoon environment is establishing the baseline, the choice of establishing a reference period is scientifically difficult but rather practical for decision-making. Although various possible suggestions for a baseline were included in different policy documents, no quantifiable baseline has been officially accepted. Therefore, the current situation (i.e., the BaU) in this study is considered to be the EUNIS map (Figure 14B) developed in 2023 under the scope of the REST-COAST project, representing the 'current' mosaic of habitats found in the Venice Lagoon.

3.2.2 Defining policy objectives

The possible futures of the Venice Lagoon seem to involve the conservation of its quality, identity and functionality, being this unique system not only governed by civilizational choices but also by precise laws (Bonometto, 2003), and natural processes. The authorities of the Venice lagoon ⁶ have a long history of maintaining the state of the Venice lagoon and preserving its natural resources (Solidoro et al., 2010). Since the first Special Law of Venice, in 1973, the preservation of the ecological and physical unity of the lagoon was explicitly set as an objective and became a commitment of many institutional and non-institutional subjects (Bonometto, 2003). In the current morphological plan for Venice, that is an instrumental tool for the lagoon management, the strategy for recovering its ideal status under hydrological, morphological and biological perspective is based on the analysis of the system state and the prediction of its possible behaviours in relation to different scenarios. As such, various focus points have been identified, including maintaining an adequate intertidal surface according to morphological principles; the vivification and confinement of areas in relation to their residence time and hydrodynamics; and protecting and restoring typical lagoon habitats, biodiversity and species. Rather than quantifying the long-term goal of the lagoon, this morphological plan provides a framework in which the accumulated knowledge regarding restoration and interventions are updated every 10 years ⁷. This updated assessment, based on literature, pilot studies, and expert knowledge, then underlines the new interventions and their locations according to the suitability of these locations in line with those changes generated through the past interventions.

By lack of an existing description of a 'desired future' on the 21st of February 2024, the REST-COAST Venice pilot team synthesised a desired future for the Venice Lagoon based on legislation, previous discussions with the CORE-PLAT and research inquiries: 'A system that is in morphological balance, delivers ecosystem services and support biodiversity, safety and health, resilience of the socio-ecological system, and economic viability'.

3.2.3 Identifying possible adaptation strategies and measures

Since the 1990s a variety of mitigation and adaptation interventions have been implemented, including: Sistema Mo.S.E., Piano di Azione per il Clima del Comune di Venezia, Piano Europa and Piano Morfologico. Simultaneously, various LIFE projects have been implemented, e.g., LIFE SeResto, LIFE VIMINE, LIFE Refresh, LIFE BARENE, and LIFE Forestall. The restoration works conducted as part of the mitigation and adaptation interventions implemented since the 90s range from the excavation of canals to the reconstruction of tidal flat and salt marshes, to re-naturalisation of lagoon areas, to interventions on subtidal bottoms to reduce wave shear stress and increase consolidation through seagrass transplantation (Tagliapietra et al., 2018), but also include technical interventions such as the Mo.S.E.⁸ or sand engines. Based on these past projects, a set of sub-visions and underlying strategies have been defined by the REST-COAST pilot team. Each of these strategies can be associated with various measures, and during the knowledge gathering of the past projects over 30 measures were identified (detailed in the VSM+E table) (Annex 2). It is evident that the Venice Lagoon has a long history of restoration and conservation, and to provide an adequate level of detail the measures

⁶ It should be noted that the PROVV. OO. PP. will be replaced by the Lagoon Authority in the near future, and that this will have an influence on the future restorations as it will allow for the alignment of various restoration activities that are currently executed in a more fragmented manner.

⁷ The past piano morfologico has not been accepted, and while the measures studied as part of the REST-COAST project have been approved, there is currently no quantitative number available for the planned interventions. ⁸ Mo.S.E. (Modulo Sperimentale Elettromeccanico).

relevant for the restoration upscaling have been aggregated ⁹ (Figure 15) and are detailed in Sections 3.2.3.1, 3.2.3.2, and 3.2.3.3.



Figure 15: Relationship between the three main visions, six primary strategies, and aggregated measures; while the full elaboration of visions, strategies and measures included in the VSM+E table (see Annex 2).

3.2.3.1 Artificial morphological structures: Saltmarsh and mudflat construction and protection

So far, 1600 ha of new artificial mudflats and saltmarshes have been created in the Venice Lagoon (Figure 16). These results are significant for the saltmarshes, equal to 27% of the natural marshes and recovering 30% of the marshes lost since the 1930s (Tagliapietra et al., 2018). The reconstruction of saltmarshes has various functions, including the reduction of sediment loss, the protection of existing morphological structures, the reduction of fetch, and supporting ecological functioning (Consorzio Venezia Nuova et al., 2016). Therefore, these interventions align with various strategies to reach the desired future for the Venice Lagoon. The construction of saltmarshes has been based on pragmatic techniques, essentially following two phases: i) the creation of the contermination perimeter; and ii) the refilling of the enclosed area with dredged sediments of good chemical status. This pragmatic approach is anything but simplistic, including a variety of modules often used in combination based on the pressures affecting the area of implementation (Tagliapietra et al., 2018). The types of boundaries for achieving the contermination are determined based on the conditions (especially waves and wind) with the main kind of modules being timber piles, brushwood fascines, gabions, bags, rolls and mattresses made of, and filled with, different materials, such as polymeric fibres, natural fibres, stones, brushwood, and shells (Tagliapietra et al., 2018). Subsequently, the perimeter

⁹ This selection has been made based on the alignment of these measures with the REST-COAST project objectives and allowed the Venice pilot team to dive deeper into the evaluation of these measures for the adaptation pathways.

is refilled with sediment until an initial altitude of 0.7 - 0.8 m above mean sea level is reached, which in the medium to long term will compact and consolidate to the optimal height, 0.3 - 0.4 m above mean sea level.



Figure 16: Restoration site and visualisation of restoration techniques and materials, including burghe, mattresses, piling and removal of non-saltmarsh vegetation (source: Provv. 00.PP.)

The construction of mudflats, allowing for the dissipation of waves and protection of the seabed and saltmarsh edges, involves the creation of boundaries and pouring dredged materials (Consorzio Venezia Nuova et al., 2016). For the boundaries, during the executive project, different solutions are selected based on their exposure, including temporary boundaries, mattresses and huts filled with stones, and 'burghe' made from biodegradable materials filled with shells (Brotto, 2011). The boundaries are protective elements of various types, including 'burghe' and geogrid mattresses, commonly also used for the creation of saltmarshes. The different combinations of the elements correspond to the need to adapt the border structures to the trend of the seabed, and keep the height of the structure fixed (Brotto, 2011). For simplicity, in the drafted adaptation pathways the Venice pilot team considers saltmarsh restoration, artificial saltmarsh creation, and artificial mudflat construction while neglecting the specific techniques and materials used during the implementation of the measure (further research regarding this aspect is needed).

3.2.3.2 Seagrass transplantation

Seagrass transplantation has been carried out in by various Lagoon authorities over the past 30 years, including small scale transplantation experiments by the City of Venice in 1992 – 1997, various restorations through transplantation by the Venice Water authority, transplantation of *Zostera noltei* in shallow marsh ponds by the IUAV and Consorzio Thetis in 1994, explanting seagrass sods to donor sites between 1996 and 1997, and LIFE SeResto (2012 – 2017) aiming to recover the ecological status through widespread seagrass transplantation (Tagliapietra et al., 2018). The transplantation in the Venice lagoon has been conducted with *Cymodocea nodosa, Zostera marina*, and *Nanozostera nolteii* has proven to have a substantial positive

outcome and provided insights in the different methods for different morphological and sedimentological areas. Seagrass transplantation was conducted according to two methodologies, manual and non-manual (Brotto, 2011). The intervention technique involved the use of a reduced number of clods, with advantages in terms of costs and impact on donor sites, making the restoration action applicable on a large scale (Berto et al., 2019). In defining the intervention strategy, the presence of natural seagrasses can lead to various intervention-approaches, including: concentrate transplants where an embryonic process of prairie development is underway, to encourage and accelerate their growth, or considering that transplants have a function of triggering the process of rapid diffusion thanks to the conspicuous production of seed (Sfriso et al., 2017). The options require a small removal of material from the donor site, and usually does not cause a disturbance to the transplant site. In these areas, in fact, if the intervention were successful, the presence of seagrasses would favour the improvement of environmental quality (sediment stability, water transparency), triggering a positive feedback process to the benefit of the ecological quality of the site (Sfriso et al., 2017).

3.2.3.3 Mo.S.E.

The Mo.S.E. is an engineering project which was implemented as part of combined measures for the defence of Venice and the lagoon ecosystem from high waters. The principal objectives of the Mo.S.E. are defence from high waters, defence from storm surges. The Mo.S.E. itself consists of 4 mobile barriers located in the lagoon inlets (i.e., Lido, Malamocco, and. Chioggia). These barriers are made up of 78 independent mobile gates, represented by hollow structures made of steel and filled with air to make them buoyant. When the Mo.S.E. system is operational, the gates are raised from the bottom of the inlets and are capable of temporarily separating the lagoon from the sea and defending Venice from 'Acqua Alta'. The Mo.S.E. is expected to protect Venice and the lagoon from tides up to 3 metres high and from a rise in sea levels up to 60 cm over the next 100 years.

3.2.4 Determining early warning signals and tipping points of adaptation measures

Identifying tipping points can be complex and time-consuming, requiring advanced modelling and statistical approaches, as well as the exploration of their interactions. Therefore, it should be clarified that in this work the tipping points for the Venice Lagoon in Table 7 are reported only where available from previous literature or ongoing studies. Where they have not been previously calculated or estimated, the tipping point values are not reported, considering only the drivers and factors that are capable of influencing the trajectory of the system, following the framework proposed by WP4.

Measures	Early warning signals (biophysical)	Tipping points (biophysical) ¹⁰
Saltmarsh restoration & artificial saltmarsh creation	Sea level in relation to the saltmarsh elevation, to be estimated through future research.	The most relevant factors that are causing the disappearance of the morphological structures are the strong deficit between the sediments entering and leaving the lagoon, the rise of sea level, the lowering of ground level, the progressive rarefaction of the halophilous and hygrophilous vegetation. Sediment availability < 20 mg/L (Fagherazzi et al., 2013; Gedan et al., 2011).

Table 7: Early warning signals and tipping points of measures implemented in Venice

¹⁰ The focus on SLR while ignoring for instance wave-wind characteristics is related to the fact that in a medium-long time-scale SLR is superimposing the impacts of the others and can thus be considered the primary driver of the hydrodynamic processes.

Artificial mudflats protection and creation	Sea level in relation to the mudflat elevation, to be estimated through future research.	Sea level rise & Sediment availability.
Seagrass transplantation	EW in relation to water quality not currently available	Water quality: turbidity, light availability, water temperature; nutrient concentrations; Limited tionitrophilic macroalgae; Maximum temperature <25 – 27 degree; Water speed and currents
Mo.S.E.	Sea level rise approaching 60 cm	The MOSE can protect Venice and the lagoon from tides up to 3 metres high and from a sea level rise of up to 60 centimetres over the next 100 years.

The maintenance of the morphological structures of the Venice lagoon would require the achievement of a dynamic equilibrium condition between incoming and outgoing sediments, both in the current condition and considering possible future sea level rise (Consorzio Venezia Nuova et al., 2016). This should also consider the decrease in fluvial sediment input due to the diversion of rivers in the 16th century as well as the reconfiguration of the jetties last century (D'Alpaos et al., 2024). Under current conditions, saltmarsh equilibrium is possible since the reduced suspended sediments is sufficient and sea level rise is below the threshold beyond which vegetated saltmarshes would disappear (Consorzio Venezia Nuova et al., 2016; Marani et al., 2007). However, this might change in the future, since future coastal hazards will be mostly dictated by rising sea levels (Finotello et al., 2023), and the sediment feeding the saltmarshes seems to be derived mainly from the eroding and deepening mudflats. However, with the absence of small scale process studies providing mechanistic insight in the tipping points of saltmarsh erosion and expansion it is difficult to provide a long-term trend and evolution of the saltmarshes (Bouma et al., 2016) and mudflats in the Venice Lagoon.

Sea level rise causes saltmarshes to move away from a static equilibrium (Neijnens et al., 2021), can negatively impact saltmarshes if the rate of vertical and lateral accretion is insufficient, might expose habitats to invasive species and erosion, and it could increase habitat fragmentation (Hudson et al., 2021). Modelling studies suggest that saltmarshes reach a tipping point when a critical rate of sea level rise is exceeded, beyond which the vegetation-induced sedimentation cannot keep up with sea level rise (Neijnens et al., 2021). And although this value has not yet been calculated for the Venice Lagoon does indicate an important consideration for the development of adaptation pathways. The behaviour of habitats in the coastal zone depends very much on the availability of sediments in relation to driving forces such as sea level rise and wave activity (Hudson et al., 2021). Marshes ability to trap and retain sediments make them resilient to erosion, and allow for the maintenance of an equilibrium elevation relative to the tidal frame (Hudson et al., 2021). Detailed sediment budgets can inform models and help assess the long term fate of coastal wetlands, where stable marshes are generally characterised by a consistent input of external sediments which are regularly mobilised (Fagherazzi et al., 2020). However, the lagoon sediment budget indicates a general tendency of sediment loss through the inlets of an overall value of 3.8x10⁵ m³/yr (Defendi et al., 2010). Riverine sediment input into the lagoon has almost completely been eliminated, and the reconfiguration of the tidal inlets (i.e., Malamocco, Lido, Chioggia) has significantly reduced the sediment resuspension by wave breaking in the surf zone, thus limiting the marine sediment influx (Sarretta et al., 2010; Tambroni & Seminara, 2006). Moreover, the delivery of sediments onto saltmarsh platforms during storm events represent a significant (>70%) sedimentation annual source (Fagherazzi et al., 2020), and the newly introduced Mo.S.E. could therefore interfere with sedimentation and subsequent saltmarsh resilience (Tognin et al., 2021).

Seagrasses are structural elements that represent one of the most important indicators of quality and stability of the lagoon environment (Brotto, 2011), and the presence of natural recolonisation represents a

useful indicator of the reduction of pressures and the establishment of suitable conditions (Sfriso et al., 2017). The past decline of seagrasses can be mainly attributed to the optimum temperature of growth for species, where values above 25° C strongly increase the retreat and mortality of Zostera marina (Curiel et al., 2021). Moreover, the growth of sods is positively correlated with salinity, light availability and inversely to suspended particulate matter and nutrient concentrations (Sfriso et al., 2019). While water speed and currents (Tagliapietra et al., 2018), as well as waves due to boats can adversely impact the seagrasses and their growth. These conditions are relevant to consider, both as early warnings or tipping points as well as for the implementation of the interventions and their success.



3.2.5 Generating the adaptation pathway map

Figure 17: Adaptation pathways for the Venice lagoon, displaying the already implemented measures ¹¹ in relation to various strategies, while leaving room for the future upscaling as this will be defined at a later stage in collaboration with the CORE-PLAT

In the Venice lagoon, the adaptation pathways are related to the upscaling of restoration to reach the desired future (Section 3.2.2). Considering the long history of interventions in the Lagoon, these adaptation pathways rely on the knowledge related to these past measures. Within the REST-COAST project, the upscaling plan is aimed at evaluating the possibility of restoring 1600 hectares of artificial salt marshes and mudflats. However, it should be noted that at this point in time, there is no lagoon wide restoration plan in place and the upscaling as described in REST-COAST for the Venice Lagoon does not provide a full holistic adaptation plan due to its relative narrow focus on artificial saltmarshes and mudflats. The visualised pathways (Figure 17) instead display the various aggregated interventions categorised according to their ability to contribute

¹¹ The Mo.S.E. is the only measure that has not only been considered in the already implemented measures but also the upscaling, as this interventions will continue to be functional considering sea level rise up to 60 centimetres over the next 100 years, protecting the lagoon from tides up to 3 metres high.

to the four specific strategies, as identified in Section 3.2.3, and tipping points (Section 3.2.4), with limited consideration of possible future upscaling and sequencing. The drafted pathways reflect those measures implemented in the past in relation with the identified strategies rather than the sequential implementation of measures to achieve said desired future. Each of these measures has the potential to be implemented in the future, if the conditions remain favourable, and as such could support the upscaling of restoration in the Venice Lagoon. However, at the time of writing this deliverable their extent and implementation timeline remain uncertain. The only exception to this uncertainty is the Mo.S.E., which will remain operative in future adaptation plans considering sea level rise up to 60 centimetres over the next 100 years, protecting the lagoon from tides up to 3 metres high.

An in-depth discussion is expected together between the Venice pilot team and the CORE-PLAT to refine the different strategies, measures, and tipping points. This discussion is necessary to better understand the desired future not only from a theoretical point of view, but to make it tangible by exploring the possible spatial and temporal implementation of measures. Additionally, this inquiry will be supported by modelling activities (e.g. complementing the SHYFEM model with a vegetation module to explore the influence of saltmarsh vegetation on water quality, and developing a bayesian decision network to explore the influence of restoration on the provisioning of regulating ecosystem services in the Venice lagoon) to quantify the NBS effectiveness. All this will help build a better understanding of the performance of the different measures, both in isolation as well as combined into pathways.

3.2.6 Evaluating pathways with multi-criteria analysis

Each of the pathways is evaluated based on a set of sub-criteria in relation to the different measures, allowing for the evaluation of the different pathways relevant to each other in terms of effectiveness, feasibility, cost and flexibility (Table 8). This scoring has been done by the Rest-coast Venice pilot team by expert judgement through using a divergent Likert scale, where the lowest score (-2) represents the most negative influence, and the highest score (+2) represents the most positive influence on the assessed factor potentially achieved by the considered measures. The middle of the scale (namely, the score 0) is therefore referring to no effect or no influence. According to this approach, all the measures have been evaluated on a scale going from 'Very detrimental' to 'Very effective' for the effectiveness in fostering ecosystem services; from 'Very poor' to 'Very high' for the evaluation of feasibility, participation and engagement, and inclusiveness; and finally from 'Very wasteful' to 'Very cost-effective' when evaluating the performance of the implemented measure also considering the implementation costs as well.

Criteria	Sub-criteria		Meas	ure (scoring -2	to +2)	
		A. Saltmarsh restoration	B. Artificial saltmarsh creation	C. Mudflat protection and creation	D. Seagrass transplantat ion	E. Mo.S.E.
	Reduction of coastal erosion risk (RCE)	+2	+2	+2	+1	0
	Reduction of coastal flooding risk (RFR)	+1	+1	+1	0	+2
Effectiveness	Water quality purification (WQP)	+2	+1	+1	+2	-1
	Climate change regulation (CCR)	+2	+1	+1	+2	-1
	Food provisioning (FP)	+2	+1	+2	+1	-1

Table 8: Measure scoring

	Biodiversity value (BDV)	+2	+1	+1	+1	-1
	AVERAGE	+1.83	+1.17	+1.33	+1.17	-0.33
	Inclusive and effective decision- making	0	0	0	0	0
	Recognition and respect for tenure rights	0	0	0	0	0
	Capacity and skills	+2	+1	0	+1	+2
	Technical and organisational feasibility	+2	+1	0 +2		+2
	Leadership	0	0	0	0	0
	Experimentation and learning	+1	0	0	+2	N/A
Feasibility	Governance structure and legal alignment	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1
	Diversity of knowledge, cultures and institutions	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1
	Strategic vision, learning and direction	+1	+1	+1	+1	1
	Coordination and coherence	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1
	Grievance and conflict resolution (trust)	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1
	Drivers of change ¹²	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
	Devolution	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1
	Accountability	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1
	AVERAGE	+0.15	-0.08	-0.23	+0.15	+0.08
	Total cost (per ha)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Cost	Public funding ratio	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
2051	Funding gap	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
	Cost-effectiveness	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
	AVERAGE	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Flexibility	Flexibility	+1	0	N/A	+2	0

Generally the measures pertaining to the restoration and creation of habitats in the Venice lagoon score well in terms of effectiveness. In particular the restoration of saltmarshes is considered to provide a wide range of ecosystem services. The created saltmarshes score slightly lower which might be attributed to biophysical differences such as sediment characteristics or elevation. Mudflats, if vegetated, provide a wide range of services and in particular provide nursery habitats and protection to fish species. Moreover, it might be noted that the particular purpose of each measure might influence the effectiveness, highlighting in particular that the restoration and creation of artificial saltmarshes in the Venice lagoon serve to enhance biodiversity

¹² Drivers of change was extensively discussed, but as pilot team we decided that this indicator should be split into two aspects: awareness (2) and change - or effective strategies for achieving change (0), while also noting that there are various factors affecting this scoring such as age or as well as the occurrence of adverse events.

through bird nesting and reducing invasive species, limit the loss of sediments, attenuate waves, and restore general ecological functioning. Mudflats on the other hand are mainly protected and restored as a way to protect salt marshes through attenuating waves, and seagrass transplantation is often executed with water quality improvements and biodiversity in mind, but often also altering hydrodynamics and reducing erosion.

It should be noted that since the measures included in this evaluation are those that have already been implemented in the past it was unfeasible to provide details about the funding gap. The majority of the measures implemented in the past have been funded by public money, either provided by the state or acquired through European projects. However, for saltmarsh restoration additional financial details were provided considering the following: planning phase (13% of the total cost of the works), restoration of the perimeter of saltmarshes (362 euros per linear metre), refilling of the saltmarshes (19 euro per m³), and monitoring (2900 per hectare of saltmarsh). These estimated costs are related to the regional price list for 2023. To these values a 20% must be added to consider the increased cost of materials registered in 2024 (see regional price list for 2024 <u>https://prezziario.regione.veneto.it/</u>), and more details are included in Deliverable 3.3 (Johannessen et al., 2024).

Variations in the flexibility between saltmarsh restoration and saltmarsh creation pertain to differences in the capacity and skill, technical and organisational feasibility, and experimentation and learning. This might be in part explained by the extensive history of restoring saltmarshes, studied quite intensively by the responsible authorities as well as in LIFE projects including LIFE BARENE, and LIFE VIMINE, and the more limited experience related to the creation of saltmarshes as well as the fact that this second type of measure is more pervasive. Lower flexibility scores in terms of mudflat protection can be attributed to the limited application of this measure in the past, and the subsequent limited skill, technical feasibility and learning. On the other hand, extensive research has been done to the transplantation of seagrasses by both the Venice Water Authority as well as in research projects such as LIFE SeResto leading to ample knowledge, skill and capacity for these kinds of measures. Similarly, both saltmarsh restoration and seagrass transplantation display higher scores in terms of flexibility relating to the likelihood of their implementation, while mudflats have not been scored due to limited knowledge.

Remarkably, the Mo.S.E. as a measure generates a rather low score, and adversely affects the scoring within the pathways. This could be explained due to the singular focus of the measure on flood risk reduction. Another point that needs careful consideration is that the Mo.S.E. system is regarded as one of the measures contributing to the adaptation pathways. However, it is neither a nature-based solution nor an example of ecological restoration or an instrumental device for allowing those measures. Instead, it is an engineering system that operates when exceptionally high tides threaten Venice. While it can effectively reduce the risks related to climate change and sea level rise in the short term, its ecological role is uncertain, especially in the mid- and long-term. There are several reasons for these uncertainties. First, the Mo.S.E. system has only recently become operational, and its closures have not exceeded four days, preventing a comprehensive assessment of its effects on ecological processes. Second, while it mitigates the impacts of extreme events, it also disrupts the lagoon-sea continuum during its operational phases when the barriers are closed. Even for the effectiveness in protecting the city from flooding and the cost-effectiveness balance, the time scale under which the assessment is proposed changes significantly the outcomes. Indeed, if on the short-term (5-10 years) the Mo.S.E. is considered very effective for preventing the flooding of the historical centre of Venice and sufficiently safe for the lagoon environment, in the long term (e.g., 50 years) the evaluation of its performance and effectiveness for protecting the city are highly uncertain - since they also depends on climate change effects and their unpredictable tipping points -, while it becomes more likely that prolonged closures are going to negatively affect the lagoon hydrodynamics, its water quality, the sediment balance, saltmarshes accretion rates, and various other ecosystem dynamics. Moreover, while there are some positive social and economic effects, recent documentation has highlighted potentially negative effects on the ecological dynamics that counterbalance these benefits even in the short-term. Consequently, the influence

of the Mo.S.E. system is difficult to evaluate within this framework because it is neither linear nor easily predictable, and it came out that it is strictly related to the temporal scale considered for the evaluation. To provide a consistent framework, the Rest-coast Venice team scored the effects of the measures by referring to short- to mid-term spatial scales.

Criteria	Pathway 1	Pathway 2	Pathway 3	Pathway 4
	avg. (A+B+C+D+E)	avg. (A+B+C+D)	avg. (A+B+D)	E
Effectiveness	+1.03	+1.38	+1.39	-0.33
Feasibility	+0.01	0	+0.07	+0.08
Cost	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Flexibility	+0.75	+0.75	+1	0

Table 9: Pathway scoring

Considering the scoring of these different measures and the preliminary pathways, it is possible to score the four different pathways (Table 9). The first three pathways show little differences in their scoring, which can be associated with the similar composition of each pathway, with the only difference between pathway 1 and pathway 2 being the inclusion of the Mo.S.E. for pathway 1. While pathways 2 and 3 only differ in the fact that pathway 3 does not consider the protection and creation of artificial mudflats. This observed difference, or rather similarity, could in part be related to the overlap in measures, the fact that many of the interventions focus on the provisioning of various ecosystem services, as well as the fact that the governance in the Venice Lagoon is mostly top down, resulting in a shared score for many of the governance indicators. Pathway 4 is just about the Mo.S.E as the main objective is about storm surge and flood reduction and as such is solely influenced by the scoring of this single measure. It might be noted that feasibility is low for all four pathways, this in part can be attributed to governance barriers and political rigidity. This should be considered in relation to the legislative complexity surrounding restoration, as well as the ambiguous policy objectives and limited long-term adaptation plannings; which might be aided through the development of adaptation pathways highlighting various transformation options to reach the desired future.

3.3 Ebro Delta



3.3.1 Understanding the current situation

Figure 18: Map of Ebro Delta habitats (EUNIS 2019)

The Ebro Delta has an area of 320 km² and represents one of the main wetland areas of the Western Mediterranean, due to its extension and ecological importance. It is characterised by being a low-lying area, heavily anthropized, without significant (large) coastal engineering structures and with land-use dominated by agriculture: 70% of the surface area is agricultural land, mainly for rice production (95%). This area encompasses a wide array of natural environments: river, sea, bays, beaches, dunes, wetlands, riverine woodlands, salt marshes, coastal lagoons, etc. and, along with the rice fields, are home to many organisms that have adapted to the different habitats. This region comprises a unique and fragile combination of coastal protected areas and it hosts several priority habitats (*Cymodocea, Zostera* and *Ruppia* seagrass beds, coastal lagoons, salt marshes, etc.) and species (*Pinna nobilis, Aphanius iberus, Syngnanthus abaster, Phoenicopterus ruber*, etc.) referring to the EU Habitats and Birds Directives (Figure 18).

The Ebro Delta is included in different national and international frameworks for environmental conservation: category A (urgent priority) International Interest of Euro-African Wetlands (UNESCO, 1962); Wetland of International Importance (Ramsar Convention, 1971); Special Protection Area for birds, ZEPA (European Union, 1979); Natural Park (Spain, 1983); and Natura 2000 Network (European Union, 1992). However, this natural area faces major threats, both environmental and socio-economic, that require urgent intervention and sustainable adaptation strategies. The Ebro Delta's natural systems are under stress. Decades of human intervention, including dam construction and unsustainable agricultural practices, have disrupted the delicate balance of the natural ecosystems. Without a concerted effort to restore the Ebro Delta, the region faces a complex future.

The evolution of the Ebro Delta is conditioned by the balance between the sediment contribution from the Ebro River and wave (storm)-induced erosion. However, the construction of dams upstream and other human activities have significantly reduced the amount of sediment reaching the delta. In the Ebro River, total sediment transfer to the Mediterranean Sea dropped by over 99 % last century, from 30 to 0.1×10^6

t/year in 2010 (Rovira & Ibañez, 2007). This not only contributes to coastal erosion, but also affects the fertility of agricultural soil in the region.

Until 1960, deposition of suspended sediments via irrigation water in the rice fields resulted in a vertical accretion rate of about 0,5 cm per year. Since 1960, large dams on the lower Ebro River have trapped almost all river sediments, and there is now a net sediment loss from the delta plain (Day et al., 2006). The lack of vertical accretion of the delta plain intensifies the effects of the subsidence processes that take place due to the compacting of the sediments that make up the Ebro Delta.

In addition, the Ebro Delta is extremely vulnerable to sea level rise (SLR) due to climate change. The combination of coastal erosion, subsidence and the reduction of fluvial sediment inputs to the deltaic wetlands and rice fields exacerbates the impacts associated with SLR and the natural subsidence of the delta, causing an accelerated loss of land. In the Ebro Delta wetlands, the relative sea level rise (RSLR) ranges from 5 to 8 mm/year (Ibáñez et al., 2010). Rising sea levels will tend to gradually flood coastal lagoons and marshes unless there is enough sediment supplied to compensate for the increasing deficit (Ibañez & Caiola, 2021). It is estimated that if no measures are taken, a significant part of the delta could be under water in a few decades (Figure 19).

Saltwater intrusion in the deltaic plain is another serious problem, exacerbated by rising sea levels and reduced flow of the Ebro River, especially during periods of drought. Salinization severely affects agriculture production, especially rice farming, which is one of the pillars of the local economy.



Figure 19: Flooding scenario predictions for the Ebro Delta without sediment contributions. On the left, the evolution with the current contribution of sediments. On the right, the evolution with the contribution of sediments required to compensate for relative sea level rise. The land areas shown in red in the simulation correspond to areas already below sea level due to subsidence, but not yet flooded (except coastal lagoons) because they are not directly connected to the sea (Source: Institut Cartogràgic i Geològic de Catalunya, <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zi8k-2aN1aw</u>)

Continued business as usual trends will exacerbate these problems. The Ebro's reduced sediment load will accelerate coastal erosion and subsidence, leaving the delta increasingly vulnerable to sea-level rise and storms, which are expected to be more frequent and intense in the future due to climate change. Wetlands and lagoons will shrink unless active restoration is carried out, compromising their ability to act as natural

buffers and providing key ecosystem functions. Saltwater intrusion will render agricultural lands unproductive, particularly for rice cultivation. Without intervention, the Ebro Delta region will suffer severe ecological and economic consequences.

Therefore, it is essential to restore wetlands, lagoons, beaches and the river ecosystems in a holistic manner, by recovering the natural dynamics of water and sediment flows and habitats, while enhancing biodiversity and essential ecosystem services. At the same time, it is key to ensure the livelihoods and preventing rural abandonment of the region, through promoting sustainable rice farming, fishing, aquaculture and ecotourism, among other activities.

3.3.2 Defining policy objectives

The near- and long-term policy objectives for the future of the Ebro Delta focus on the conservation and restoration of the unique hydrogeomorphological and ecological functioning of this region, as well as promoting the transformation towards a regenerative bioeconomy and more sustainable agricultural, fisheries, aquaculture and tourism sectors.

On the one hand, the **recovery of the natural habitats** of the Ebro Delta (wetlands, coastal lagoons, beaches, etc.) is essential for the provision of ecosystem services (such as fish nursery, water purification, climate regulation, etc.) and the conservation of habitats and species. Furthermore, another policy objective is the **restoration of the natural dynamics** of the lower river through a better environmental flow regime, recovery of the river sediment transport to the delta and restoration of fluvial habitats. In addition, **improving coastal adaptation to climate change** (sea level rise) is key to ensure the Ebro Delta's future through NBS-like adaptation measures such as beach restoration and recovering river-to-coast connectivity through reservoir sediment by-pass systems, among other solutions. On the other hand, **maintaining the productivity of rice fields** in a climate change scenario (sea level rise and salt intrusion) is pivotal in the region because rice farming is the most important economic activity.

The Ebro Delta is governed by a complex interplay of different administrative levels, each with its own priorities and planning frameworks, which do not necessarily share the same priorities and vision of the potential use of NBS in coastal restoration activities. This multi-layered governance structure, encompassing national, regional, and local authorities, can lead to inconsistencies and challenges in coordinating restoration efforts. While various plans exist to address the delta's critical issues, their effective implementation requires a holistic approach that transcends administrative boundaries and ensures alignment of objectives. The most relevant policy instruments are the Ebro River Basin Management Plan, the Delta Plan, and the Delta Strategy.

The **Ebro River Basin Management Plan** (2022-2027) is a state-level planning instrument that seeks to ensure sustainable and balanced management of water resources in the Ebro River basin. This plan is pivotal in restoring the delta's natural dynamics. By ensuring adequate water and sediment flows to the lower river and delta, this plan should contribute to revitalising fluvial habitats, replenishing coastal areas, and supporting the overall health of the ecosystem. This plan is updated periodically, in line with the European Union's Water Framework Directive. The plan includes a pilot trial of sediment by-pass in the Riba-roja reservoir not yet executed.

The Delta Plan and Delta Strategy focus on the coastal fringe protection and restoration, aiming to restore wetlands, lagoons, and beaches. These plans are essential for enhancing biodiversity, protecting against coastal erosion and flooding, and creating suitable habitats for fish and other species. The **Delta Plan** is promoted by the Government of Spain (pending final approval) and focuses on mitigating the consequences of climate change and sea level rise (up to year 2100) through beach nourishment and restoration of coastal

habitats. It is a long-term roadmap that seeks to ensure the survival of the delta in a climate change scenario. The **Delta Strategy** (2023-2032) is a plan promoted by the Government of Catalonia for the protection of the Ebro Delta. This planning focuses on coastal fringe restoration through the implementation of different projects for beach nourishment and sand dune restoration. It will be divided into three phases where different projects will be implemented: from now until 2024, from 2025 to 2028, and from 2029 to 2032.

Furthermore, stakeholder engagement and co-creation approaches will be desirable in a long-term vision policy for the Ebro Delta, by defining a **governance framework** capable of overcoming the barriers observed in previous planning and management efforts, and also to integrate local expectations in a participative way (similar to the discussion and co-creation efforts carried out in the CORE-PLATs of the REST-COAST project).

3.3.3 Identifying possible adaptation strategies and measures

Several initiatives and projects have been implemented to address the Ebro Delta's challenges that align with the near- and long- term visions of the planning instruments for Ebro Delta described in the previous section (see Section 3.3.2) (see Annex 3).

Understanding the effects of sea-level rise and marine storms on Mediterranean coastal wetlands is crucial to developing adequate climate change measures, strategies and adaptation pathways. Beach nourishment, marsh restoration, and river sediment by-passes can help to protect the delta plain and the coastline from erosion, sea level rise and storms. Hard engineering solutions, such as the construction of dykes, as a protection measure against marine storms are not sustainable under scenarios of climate change and energy scarcity. Constructing nature-based soft dikes within the coastal-line in combination with forced drainage systems can manage water levels effectively at least for some decades. Restoring and creating dunes further strengthens coastal defenses in a more climate-resilient manner is another challenge to be developed.

The EU-funded **project RISES-AM (2013-2016)** addressed the wide impacts of coastal systems to various types of high-end climatic scenarios (including marine and riverine variables). It focused on enhancing coastal systems sustainability by adopting a flexible adaptive pathway that identifies tipping points and makes use of green intervention options, more sustainable than the traditional coastal engineering solutions. The protection through soft dikes, the increase in forced drainage (pumping) or the segmentation of the drainage system in the Ebro Delta are examples of technical interventions addressed in this project.

The water and sediment flux of the Ebro River has declined due to human activities in the watershed and is vulnerable to the effects of climate change, which has accelerated the relative rise in sea level and coastal erosion processes. Specific management and restoration measures are therefore necessary to mitigate these negative effects. Restoring the lagoons and marshes of the Ebro Delta, as well as improving the state of habitats and priority species, is another key goal to mitigate the effects of coastal regression and climate change. The main goal of the **LIFE+ DELTA-LAGOON (2010-2017) project** was to improve the environmental status of two coastal lagoons, the Alfacada and Tancada lagoons, through habitat restoration and management measures, such as improvement of hydrological function, elimination of infrastructure that interferes with hydrological connectivity (river-lagoon-sea), and creation of new lagoon habitats in existing rice fields and abandoned aquaculture facilities.

The measures for climate change mitigation and adaptation in the Ebro Delta require integrated management through the development of comprehensive technical solutions and interventions. The **LIFE EBRO-ADMICLIM project (2014-2018)** proposed an integrated management approach for water, sediment and habitats (rice fields and wetlands), with the multiple objectives of optimising soil elevation (through contributions of inorganic sediment and organic matter), reducing coastal erosion, increasing the accumulation (sequestration) of carbon in the soil, reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and improving

water quality. The reinjection of sediments to the Ebro Delta irrigation channels, or the injection of sediments to the river to calibrate and validate sediment transport models were some of the restoration techniques implemented in this project to reduce coastal erosion and subsidence. In addition, different water management schemes were tested by the optimization of two existing constructed wetlands. Novel agronomic practiques (alternate wetting and drying) were assessed to reduce GHG emissions and improve carbon sequestration in the rice fields.

To address some key challenges of coastal ecosystems, the **project REST-COAST (2021-2026)** focuses on improving large-scale restoration of coastal ecosystems through new technical, financial, management and upscaling methods and tools, aligned with the needs of vulnerable regions and society. In the Ebro Delta Pilot, hands-on restoration actions have been deployed to promote river-delta-coast connectivity and the recovery of natural coastal dynamics. On one hand, the creation of artificial embryonic dunes along the most vulnerable coastal spots (Marquesa beach and Trabucador barrier) have been carried out with the aim of reducing the risk of erosion by taking advantage of the natural processes of sediment distribution. On the other hand, the removal of a coastal dike, that has historically separated the beach from the Alfacada coastal lagoon area and wetlands, have been conducted with the aim of reconnecting these habitats, recovering their natural dynamics, increasing the buffering capacity of the coast against marine storms and enhancing biodiversity by reestablishing the natural salinity gradient (Figure 20). Moreover, the restoration of the coastal fringe in the Bombita Nature Reserve (Figure 21), formerly a rice field area, will increase the resilience of the coast to sea level rise and marine storms. Both interventions and good examples of coastal restoration that can be scaled up in the near future.

Regarding the recovery of river sediment transport to the delta and restoration of fluvial habitats, **a sediment by-pass** pilot trial at the Riba-roja reservoir (2022-2027) was proposed (but not yet implemented) to restore the flow of sediment from the Ebro River to the sea and help to reverse the coastal erosion and sustain delta habitats. At the same time, **beach nourishments**, **sand dune restoration** and **salt marsh restoration** are technical measures being implemented to enhance coastal adaptation to climate change (sea level rise) and the recovery of river-to-coast connectivity.



Figure 20: Alfacada Lagoon before (left) and after (right) the removal of the dike. (Source: EURECAT)



Figure 21: Coastal fringe area to be restored in the Bombita Reserve. (Source: MITECO)

Furthermore, one of the key strategies for the future of the Ebro Delta region is the **adaptation of the primary sector** to climate change (i.e. agriculture, aquaculture, fisheries, salt production). By rising rice field grounds with sediments, implementing regenerative agriculture practices, and developing sustainable aquaculture, among other measures, the region can improve socio-economic resilience.

Finally, to enhance the delta's overall ecological health and climate resilience, **green infrastructure initiatives** are essential. Restoring lagoons and marshes, revitalising river margins with forestation, and increasing urban green spaces contribute to improved water quality, flood prevention, and biodiversity conservation. By integrating these adaptation options, the Ebro Delta can build resilience, protect valuable ecosystems, and ensure the well-being of its communities. The **Delta Green Infrastructure Plan**, promoted by Eurecat and codesigned with the key stakeholders, proposes actions to implement that are collected in two blocks, a first block aimed at improving biodiversity and increasing ecosystem services to increase the resilience of the territory and the well-being of citizens, and a second block addressed to the ecotourism sector and related to equipment, mobility and heritage interpretation. Some measures included in this plan are the restoration of degraded coastal ecosystems, lagoons and wetlands as well as the improvement of the contributions of sediments and freshwater of quality to the deltaic and fluvial systems. In addition, this plan promotes the improvement of the green infrastructure of urban areas and the sustainable mobility network promoting the creation and adaptation of spaces for ecotourism.

3.3.4 Determining early warning signals and tipping points of adaptation measures

Different **adaptation measures** have been identified to address the management aims as a function of the impacts. Each adaptation measure has been assessed considering its effectiveness to reduce the most relevant Ebro Delta coastal system impacts such as subsidence, storms, sediment scarcity, erosion, salinization, etc. Threshold conditions that make a specific measure viable and threshold conditions for which the measure fails, making additional or other actions necessary (i.e., adaptation tipping point) have been defined whenever possible.

Considering the main strategies and projects described in the previous section (see Section 3.3.3) to address the adaptation challenges of the Ebro Delta region, different adaptation measures have been defined and/or implemented, for which early warnings and tipping points have been identified (see Table 10).

Table 10: Proposed measures, early warning signals and tipping points in the Ebro Delta, based on existing literature (see Ebro Delta references) and expert judgement

Measures	Early warning signals (biophysical)	Tipping points (biophysical)
A1. Rising grounds (rice fields): increasing rice field ground elevation through sediment supply.	Increased salt stress and waterlogging, reduced crop yields, sediment availability.	Crop yield reduction due to salinization and crop abandonment due to loss of available land (rising sea levels and erosion).
A2. Regenerative rice farming: agroecological practices to increase soil fertility and reduce inputs	Decrease in soil organic matter, increase in inputs to maintain production and to control crop pests and diseases.	Significant loss of soil fertility and crop production, crop failure.
A3. Sustainable aquaculture: climate-resilient aquaculture practices	Rising water temperatures, increasing algae blooms, water quality deterioration.	Significant decline in production, collapse of aquaculture sector.
B1. Beach nourishment: sand supply through nearshore or offshore sources	Rapid erosion of nourished beaches, increased inundations, the decrease in the stock of quality sediments to nourish the beaches, the growing social concern/opposition on beach nourishment as a coastal protection measure.	Loss of beach width to a critical point that cannot avoid flooding during average marine storm events.
B2. Marsh restoration (coastal fringe): increase of marsh surface in the backshore	Reduction of marsh vegetation cover, increased flooding and/or salinity, loss of biodiversity.	Significant loss of marsh habitat (flooding by sea level rise and/or coastal squeeze by erosion)
B3. River dam sediment by- pass: recovery of sediment flow to the delta	Reduction of sediment supply to the delta, accelerated coastal erosion.	Significant loss of coastal land in the river mouth area due to erosion.
B4. Soft dikes (bays) + forced drainage: construction of protection dikes along the inner shore of the bays and forced drainage of rice field water due to sea level rise	Increased frequency and intensity of storm flooding, increased pumping through the drainage infrastructure.	Uselessness of soft dikes due to sea level rise and storms. Uselessness of the widespread drainage infrastructure.
B5. Dune creation/restoration: recovery of dune systems to reduce flooding and erosion	Dune erosion, reduction of vegetation cover on dunes, limited sand sources for dune restoration.	Significant loss of dune systems due to increased coastal erosion, reduction of geomorphological complexity of the coastal fringe.
C1. Lagoon restoration: recovery of former lagoons and expansion of existing ones	Decrease in lagoon area due to coastal erosion.	Lack of space to restore due to rising sea levels.
C2. Marsh restoration (delta plain): recovery of former marshes and expansion of existing ones	Reduced vegetation cover in marshes, reduced marsh surface	Lack of space to restore due to rising sea levels.
C3. River margin restoration (including forests): restoration of riparian habitats	Increased riverside erosion, increased risk of inundation, water quality problems.	Significant loss of the ecological functions of riparian habitats.
C4. Urban & peri-urban greening: nature-based solutions in urban areas	Decline in air quality, increased heat island effect, reduced water infiltration.	Decreasing quality of local livelihoods.

3.3.5 Generating the adaptation pathway map

Three adaptation pathways have been formulated in the Ebro Delta region to visualise the upscaling of adaptation measures and restoration to reach the desired future (Table 11). They include different measures that can be implemented sequentially as time progresses and socio-ecological conditions change. The adaptation pathways defined for the Ebro Delta system are the following:

- Pathway 1: Adaptation of the primary sector (agriculture, aquaculture, fisheries, salt production)
- Pathway 2: Coastal adaptation to SLR and marine storminess
- Pathway 3: Green infrastructures (nature-based solutions for the delta plain)

In addition, the adaptation process is structured into three phases depending on measures implementation: 1) implemented and ongoing measures; 2) upscaling measures; and 3) new measures (when existing or planned measures are not sufficient for adaptation).

One of the key adaptation pathways of the Ebro Delta region is **the adaptation of the primary sector** (see Pathway 1; Figure 21). Rising rice field grounds, implementing regenerative agriculture practices, and developing a sustainable aquaculture are measures to improve socio-economic resilience of the Ebro Delta region. On the one hand, with the sea level rise, **rising grounds** (i.e., the filling of the rice fields with fluvial sediments for vertical accretion) is an adaptation measure to raise the land in response to rising sea levels. Low population density and concentration of towns in higher elevation areas, along with low-lying areas used mainly as rice fields and wetlands make this adaptation strategy feasible for moderate rates of sea level rise (Ibañez et al., 2014). This measure alone will not ensure the long-term economic viability of the rice farming sector, especially under high rates of sea level rise, which is why the transition to **regenerative rice farming** is necessary for maintaining soil fertility over time and avoiding crop failure.

On the other hand, rising water temperatures and the water quality problems in the Ebro Delta bays are causing increasing mussel mortality and a decrease in the aquaculture production (mussels and oysters). Aquaculture is therefore a sector that is very vulnerable to the impacts of climate change, and it is necessary to develop specific adaptation measures to face the changes in the sea and bays, which are already occurring (i.e., water temperature approaching 30 °C in summer), and which will become more pronounced in the future. Promoting **sustainable aquaculture** and developing innovative solutions for adapting this economic activity to climate change is key for this sector.

Table 11: Summary of adaptation pathway measures

Pathway 1: Adaptation of the	Pathway 2: Coastal adaptation to	Pathway 3: Green infrastructures
primary food production sector	SLR and marine storminess	(delta plain)
A1: Rising rice field grounds	B1: Beach nourishment	C1: Lagoon restoration (delta plain)
A2: Regenerative rice farming	B2: Marsh restoration(coastal	C2: Marsh restoration (delta plain)
A3: Sustainable aquaculture	fringe)	C3: River margin restoration
	B3: River dam sediment by-pass	(including forests)
	B4: Soft dikes (bays) + forced	C4: Urban & peri-urban greening
	drainage	
	B5: Dune creation/restoration	



Figure 22: The adaptation pathway map of the Ebro Delta, with IPCC condition-based scenarios of SLR

The pathway 'coastal adaptation to sea level rise and marine storms' in the Ebro Delta (see Pathway 2; Figure 22) includes measures such as **beach nourishment** for the coastal system adaptation to increasing erosion and flooding risks. However, the decrease in the stock of sediments to nourish the beaches, the rapid erosion of nourished beaches and the growing social concern on beach nourishment as a coastal protection measure, will lead to this adaptation measure being temporary, reaching a tipping point, and not being effective in the future with the rising sea levels. At this point, **river dam sediment by-pass** is an adaptation technique to restore the river sediment flux through the reservoirs, providing sediment inputs to the delta to combat erosion of certain stretches of the coastline (especially the mouth area that shows the highest erosion rates), as well as promoting the accretion and fertility of agricultural soils for rice cultivation. Furthermore, the **restoration of marshes in the coastal fringe** behind the beach are necessary for coastal adaptation. Implementing wetland and marshes restoration projects and creating artificial marshes can act as natural buffers against rising sea levels and erosion. These areas could retain sediments, serving as sedimentation areas helping to maintain the balance of the delta, and could improve the water quality by creating green filters.

The protection of the Ebro Delta plain through **soft dikes** along the inner bay's shore, in combination with **forced drainage** and pumping are other measures of this coastal adaptation pathway. This measure is unavoidable since the delta plain is progressively becoming a polder area that needs to be protected and permanently drained to avoid sea flooding. However, with rising sea levels, soft dikes for coastal protection (in combination with beach restoration) will reach a tipping point in the long-term, where these measures will no longer be effective. Then, an upgrade of the dikes and/or a realignment of the shore will be needed. Complementary, **the creation and restoration of dunes** in the Ebro Delta provides coastal protection against wave surges, sea level rise, storms and subsidence. Therefore, implementing restoration and protection projects for coastal dunes, which act as natural barriers against erosion and rising sea levels, is crucial for climate-resilient management of the Ebro Delta.

A third adaptation pathway has been formulated in the Ebro Delta region which consists of the implementation of green infrastructures in the delta plain (see Pathway 3; Figure 22). The restoration of

coastal lagoons and marshes is a key adaptation measure in this pathway, as they act as carbon sinks, improve water quality and reduce the impact of sea level rise and subsidence while enhancing biodiversity. This is especially important in agricultural-dominated areas such as the Ebro Delta. The coastal lagoons are affected by the inundation of the deltaic plain that can occur when storms meet the meteorological tide. This process will be aggravated by sea level rise due to climate change, reaching a tipping point. If sea level rise permanently floods the lagoons and surrounding marshes in the future, they will lose their ability to act as natural barriers and buffers against storms and erosion.

Therefore, the **restoration of marshes in the delta plain** as well as the **river margin restoration (including forests)** are key adaptation measures that can be very effective in the long term. Both restoration measures, which are implemented across the delta plain and along the river, can be very effective against subsidence and rising sea levels. On the one hand, salt marshes act as a natural barrier to coastal erosion, trapping sediments and reducing flooding risks. They can dynamically adapt to sea level rise by sediment accumulation and landward migration, allowing them to maintain their long-term protective function. On the other hand, river margin restoration (including riparian systems) contributes to its stabilisation by reducing erosion caused by water flow as well as mitigating the impact of river flooding. The vegetation of the river margin also has an important ecological role, acting as a natural filter for the river by trapping sediment, nutrients and pollutants, thus improving water quality, while providing habitat for multiple species.

Finally, **urban and peri-urban greening** is a long-term adaptation measure proposed in this pathway. This measure contributes to reducing the heat island effect, common in towns, where temperatures can be significantly higher than in the countryside due to the accumulation of heat on artificial surfaces. Green areas, such as parks, gardens and trees, provide shade and moisture, contributing to the regulation of the urban microclimate, while improving air quality. In addition, urban and peri-urban vegetation improves the infiltration of rainwater into the soil, which reduces surface runoff and decreases the risk of flooding, especially during intense rainfall events that are increasingly common with climate change. In addition, green areas can act as buffer zones that retain water, reducing pressure on drainage systems. Urban and peri-urban greening increases biodiversity in urban environments, while providing recreational spaces for the population and promoting their well-being.

3.3.6 Evaluating pathways with multi-criteria analysis

As shown in Table 12, each adaptation measure is assessed semi-quantitatively with a five-point scoring methodology between -2 and +2 for all the sub-criteria: -2: major negative impact; -1: minor negative impact; 0: neutral or no obvious impact; +1: minor positive impact; +2: major positive impact.

Criteria	Sub-criteria		Measure (scoring -2 to +2)										
		A1	A2	A3	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	C1	C2	C3	C4
Effectiv eness	Reduction coastal erosion (RCE)	+1	0	0	+1	0	+1	0	+1	0	0	+1	0
	Reduction flood risk (RFR)	+1	0	0	+2	+2	+1	+2	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1
	Water purification (WQP)	0	+1	+1	0	+1	0	0	0	+1	+1	+1	0
	Climate change regulation (CCR)	+1	+1	0	-1	+2	+1	-1	0	+2	+2	+1	+1
	Food provisioning (FP)	0	+1	+1	0	+1	0	0	0	+2	+1	+1	0

Table 12: Measure scoring

	Biodiversity	0	+2	+1	0	+2	+1	0	+1	+2	+2	+2	+1
	AVERAGE	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
	Inclusivo and	0.50	0.83	0.50	0.33	1.33	0.67	0.17	0.50	1.33	1.17	1.17	0.50
	effective	0	+1	+1	+1	0	0	0	+1	0	+1	+1	+1
	decision-making	Ŭ				Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ		Ŭ	• 1		
	Recognition and												
	respect for tenure	+1	+2	+2	+1	0	+1	+1	+1	0	+1	+1	+1
	rights												
	Capacity and skills	+1	-1	+1	+1	+2	+1	+1	+1	+2	+2	+2	+1
	Technical and							+1					
	organisational	+1	0	+1	+2	+1	+1		+2	+1	+1	+2	+1
	feasibility							-					-
	Leadership	-1	+1	+1	+2	+1	-1	+2	+2	+1	+1	+1	0
	and learning	+1	+1	+2	+2	+2	+1	+1	+1	+2	+2	+2	0
Feasibil ity	Governance												
	structure and	-1	+2	+1	+1	+1	-1	+1	+2	+1	+1	+1	0
	legal alignment												
	Diversity of								+1	+1	+1	+1	+1
	cultures and	+1	+2	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1					
	institutions												
	Strategic vision.												
	learning and	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	0
	direction												
	Coordination and	-1	1ـــ	0	1ــ	⊥1	-1	0	⊥1	1ــ	_ 1	1ــ	0
	coherence	-1	+1	0	1	+1	-1	0	+1	+1	+1	+1	0
	Grievance and				0			-1 0	0	0	0		0
	conflict resolution	-1	+1	0		0	-1					+1	
	(trust)				-		-	-	. 4				
	Drivers of change	0	+2	+1	U 1	+2	0	U 1	+1	+2	+2	+1	+2
	Accountability	+2	+1	+1	+1	+2	+2	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+2
	Recountability	+0.2				- 2			- 2				
	AVERAGE	1	+1.14	+1.07	+1.14	+1.14	+0.21	+0.86	+1.21	+1.07	+1.21	+1.29	+0.79
	Total cost (per ha)	+1	-1	0	-2	-1	+1	-1	0	+1	+1	+1	+1
	Public funding	-2	-1	-1	-2	-1	-2	-2	-2	-1	-1	-2	-2
	ratio	_					_		_		_		
Cost	Funding gap	+2	+2	+1	+1	+1	+2	+2	+2	+1	+1	+1	+1
	cost-	+1	+2	+1	+1	+2	+1	+2	+1	+1	+2	+2	+2
	enectiveness	+0.5											
	AVERAGE	0.5	+0.50	+0.25	-0.50	+0.25	+0.50	+0.25	+0.25	+0.50	+0.75	+0.50	+0.50
Flexibil ity	Flexibility	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	0	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1

In general terms the highest scores (around 1) are obtained for the criteria of feasibility and flexibility, while the lowest one corresponds to cost (between 0.15 and 0.56), and effectiveness yields values between 0.6 and 1.04. Regarding the pathways, the highest score is reached by the green infrastructure in the delta plain, followed by the adaptation of the primary food sector and lastly by the coastal adaptation to climate change. In this last one the criterion that most contributes to the low score is the cost, as it is for the other two

pathways too (but with less intensity). In summary it can be said that the three adaptation pathways are potentially quite feasible and flexible, relatively effective and with high costs.

Criteria	Pathway 1	Pathway 2	Pathway 3
	avg. (A1+A2+A3)	avg. (B1+B2+B3+B4+B5)	avg. (C1+C2+C3+C4)
Effectiveness	+0.61	+0.60	+1.04
Feasibility	+0.81	+0.91	+1.09
Cost	+0.42	+0.15	+0.56
Flexibility	+1.00	+0.80	+1.00

Table 13: Pathway scoring

4 Findings and conclusions on the way forward

Adaptation pathways are increasingly used to manage climate change impacts by providing a structured approach to long-term planning. The adaptation pathway approach does not offer a single, optimal sequence of measures in time. Instead, it supports policymakers by presenting a broad spectrum of potential measures, helping them to identify opportunities and prioritise measures over time. Pathway design needs to be flexible and adaptive, allowing decision-makers to switch strategies based on changing circumstances and emerging information.

The development of adaptation pathways in the REST-COAST pilots consist of several important steps which combine quantitative inputs based on models and scenarios and qualitative inputs through participatory approaches with stakeholders. The visualisation and storyline behind the pathway development offers a great opportunity for awareness raising about the 'solution space' (under deep uncertainty) and for bridging the (implementation) gaps between science, practice and decision making by translating and applying scientific data into practical actions. Application of the adaptation pathway approach (e.g. defining tipping points and assessing effectiveness) is relatively easier when management objectives are clear and quantified. However, this is often not the case due to complex governance processes and structures, different interests of stakeholders and lack of resources. For example, in the Wadden Sea pilot, we use modelling to identify the early warning signals and tipping points and expert adjustment. For Venice and Ebro pilots, the measures we need to rely on literature study and expert adjustment. For Venice and Ebro pilots, the measures are identified and evaluated based on qualitative assessments. Although this creates more uncertainty and potential bias, depending on which experts are involved and their fields and knowledge scopes, still this exercise is considered very helpful.

The interdependencies and trade-offs between different adaptation measures are crucial considerations, as they impact the effectiveness, feasibility, and long-term sustainability of these strategies. Jones et al. (2012) argue that successful adaptation requires recognizing the synergies and conflicts between measures, especially when dealing with complex systems like water management, ecosystems, and agriculture. In the Wadden Sea pilot, some measures such as farmland raising (with local material) and biodiverse dike reinforcement are dependent on sediment extraction and clay ripening. Therefore, a proper sequential order of these measures in a phased plan with transfer stations linking different measures are crucial. Trade-offs occur when the implementation of one measure compromises another, affecting their overall effectiveness or creating unintended consequences. Sediment extraction for example, can lead to coastal erosion due to its impact on the natural balance of sediment supply and coastal processes (Syvitski et al., 2005). It is

recommended to prioritise flexible, adaptive measures that can be modified as conditions evolve, rather than fixed, singular solutions that might exacerbate trade-offs.

It was observed that the effectiveness of measures depends on the choice of objectives. For example, the choice of engineered flood defence systems would score high in the effectiveness of 'Reduction of coastal flooding risk (RFR)', but low in other ESS and BDV. But if the policy objective is focused on enhancing flood protection rather than balancing all ESS, this measure is still considered highly effective. It also became clear that some objectives could not be thoroughly assessed due to insufficient information, such as some financial data, highlighting the importance of prioritising MCA indicators that align with available data.

When it comes to upscaling, we acknowledge the great challenges of going from local restoration to largescale implementation, as required by increasing climatic and anthropic pressures. For the Wadden Sea pilot, there have been on-going discussions and plans for the upscaling of current measures within the overarching long-term vision. In the Venice and Ebro pilots the long term vision still needs to be further developed with a joint effort of stakeholders. However, in all cases the development of adaptation pathways is instrumental to broaden the scope, exchange and discuss possible solutions and to decide which adaptation path(way) is most appropriate to follow. Upscaling can be hampered by a range of barriers, including technical barriers due to limited knowledge and data available; financial barriers due to limited funding and a lack of capacity to develop restoration business plans that are attractive to investors; as well as governance barriers that are caused by fragmented structures, social inertia and stakeholder conflicting interests (Sánchez-Arcilla et al., 2022). Overcoming these barriers and facilitating these factors are crucial to the success of upscaling plans. A historical analysis of morphological changes, combined with the monitoring of natural dynamics, can provide valuable insights into when and where to implement similar restoration measures to achieve optimal outcomes on a broader, regional scale. This understanding supports the effective scaling up of strategies by identifying key locations and timings for intervention. This will be further elaborated in the upcoming deliverable - D4.4 'Scalable plan for adaptation-through restoration to close the implementation gap'.

Understanding and addressing uncertainties is crucial for effective decision-making and implementation. In the development of adaptation pathways for REST-COAST, we have identified four main types of uncertainties regarding the effectiveness of measures, the determination of early warning signals and tipping points as well as multi-criteria evaluation: climate uncertainty, environmental uncertainty, socio-economic uncertainty, and policy and governance uncertainty (Haasnoot et al., 2019; Zandvoort et al., 2017). Climate uncertainty arises mainly from the lack of knowledge (e.g. the processes governing the rate of melting of the Antarctic ice sheet), and simplifications and assumptions in the climate models. Environmental uncertainty is related to ecosystem responses, namely the unpredictable response of natural systems to climate change and human interventions. Changes in ESS and BDV can significantly impact the effectiveness of adaptation strategies. Socio-economic uncertainty is caused by the uncertain social acceptance and (financial) support towards adaptation measures, affecting the feasibility and prioritisation of adaptation measures. Fluctuations in economic growth, investment capabilities, and technological advancements can influence the resources available for adaptation efforts. Policy and governance uncertainty is regarding the shifts in policies, regulations, and governance structures at local, national, and international levels that can affect the implementation and continuity of (nature-based) adaptation measures. Stakeholder engagement is key for developing adaptation pathways. Differing priorities and values among stakeholders can lead to conflicts and delays in decision-making but through a participatory approach consensus may be reached in time.

Last but not least, as defined in Section 2.4, we focus on identifying the biophysical scopes of early warning signals and tipping points for the pathway map, while in many cases the political shifts and socio-economic transitions play a major role in the changes of measures. That is why we suggest evaluating the pathways across a wide range of financial and governance indicators, and re-evaluate and adjust the scores when situations change over time. Keeping this in mind, it is important to design adaptation pathways that are

inherently flexible, allowing for adjustments in response to new data, changing conditions, and emerging risks. It is crucial to recognize that the time scale and spatial scale on which the assessment is conducted substantially affects the outcomes. As the time horizon and spatial scale extends, the associated uncertainty increases correspondingly. Periodic reassessment and adjustment based on new information and changing conditions can promote flexibility and continuous learning.

Besides climate scenarios and relevant biophysical responses, socio-economic scenarios can play a significant role for exploring the long-term consequences of anthropogenic climate and environmental change and available response options (Kriegler et al., 2012; van Vuuren & Carter, 2014). In addition to policy support, the adaptation pathway approach can promote awareness, learning, collaboration, and capacity building within society, facilitating consensus building among stakeholders. Correspondingly, It is important to foster collaboration, for example by building strong partnerships with stakeholders across sectors and scales to leverage diverse perspectives, share knowledge, and align adaptation efforts. Given these uncertainties and challenges, the adaptation pathway approach offers great opportunities for exploring possible futures both in the near and long term. In each pilot detailed recommendations and measures that can facilitate adaptation strategies will be further developed in the 'Scalable plan for adaptation-through restoration to close the implementation gap (D4.4)' in collaboration with all the other work packages.

5 Acknowledgements

The authors wish to express their gratitude to all contributors, pilot site teams, and partners who have collaborated on the preparation of this deliverable. Their unwavering support, insightful input, and constructive feedback have been instrumental in shaping the outcomes of this project.

We would like to extend a special thanks to the Province of Groningen (NL) for graciously hosting the General Assembly of REST-COAST in April 2024. Their generous hospitality, coupled with their willingness to share extensive knowledge and present exemplary projects, significantly enriched the research process and provided invaluable real-world insights.

Finally, we recognize the essential contributions of our funding bodies and European institutions that have provided the financial support and policy framework necessary for the realization of this project. Their dedication to advancing innovative research in sustainable coastal management has made this work possible, and we are deeply appreciative of their continued support.

6 References

References (General methodology)

- Allen M.R., Dube O.P., Solecki W., et al. (2018). Framing and context. In: global warming of 1.5 C. An IPCC special report.
- Arslan, C & van Loon-Steensma, J. M. (2024). Framework for co-development of restoration with NBS building blocks & ESS. Deliverable 4.2. EU Horizon 2020 REST-COAST Project, Grant agreement No 101037097.
- Baptist, M., Marijnissen, R. J. C., Różyński, G., Musumeci, R. E., Marino, M., Borzi, L., Di Stefano, A., Jolivet, M., Stocco, A., Horneman, F., Rova, S., Torresan, S., Furlan, E., Dabalà, C., Coccon, F., Critto, A., Pranovi, F., Bertomeu, F., Ibáñez, C., ... Valchev, N. (2024). D4.1 Scorecard methodology (tool) for coastal system restoration effects on ESS and BDV. ARPHA Preprints, 5, e128550-. https://doi.org/10.3897/ARPHAPREPRINTS.E128550

Belton, V., & Stewart, T. J. (2002). Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis: An Integrated Approach. Springer.

- Bosomworth, K., Gaillard, E., (2019). Engaging with uncertainty and ambiguity through participatory 'Adaptive Pathways' approaches: scoping the literature. Environ. Res. Lett. 14 (9), 093007 https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab3095.
- Bosomworth, K., Harwood, A., Leith, P., and Wallis, P. (2015). Adaptation Pathways: a playbook for developing options for climate change adaptation in Natural Resource Management. Southern Slopes Climate Change Adaptation Research Partnership (SCARP): RMIT University, University of Tasmania, and Monash University.
- Bosomworth, K., Scott, H., Wilson, J., Brunt, K., Pitfield, C., Johnson, F., Brown, G., (2018). Exploring 'Adaptation Pathways' Planning through an NRM Lens: Insights from Two Exploratory Case Studies, vol. 51.
- Butler, J.R.A., Suadnya, W., Yanuartati, Y., Meharg, S., Wise, R.M., Sutaryono, Y., Duggan, K., (2016). Priming adaptation pathways through adaptive co-management: design and evaluation for developing countries. Climate Risk Management 12, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2016.01.001.
- Chen, C., Doherty, M., Coffee, J., Wong, T., & Hellmann, J. (2016). Measuring the adaptation gap: A framework for evaluating climate hazards and opportunities in urban areas. Environmental Science & Policy, 66, 403-419.
- Cobacho, S.P., Tai, Y., de Vries, M. et al., (2024). M4.2 First application of generic scorecard methodology that can be utilized by coastal managers for selecting promising NBS building blocks linked to climate projections for their coastal landscape typology. EU Horizon 2020 REST-COAST Project, Grant agreement No 101037097.
- Coulter, L., (2019). User Guide for the climate change adaptation pathways framework: Supporting sustainable local food in B. C.. User Guide. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/ assets/gov/farming-natural-resources-and-industry/agriculture-and-seafood/agricultural-land-and-environment/climate-action/user-guide-adaptation- pathways-preparedness.pdf.
- Haasnoot, M., Biesbroek, R., Lawrence, J., Muccione, V., Lempert, R., & Glavovic, B. (2020a). Defining the solution space to accelerate climate change adaptation. *Regional Environmental Change*, *20*, 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-020-01623-8.
- Haasnoot, M., Di Fant, V., Kwakkel, J., & Lawrence, J. (2024). Lessons from a decade of adaptive pathways studies for climate adaptation. Global Environmental Change, 88, 102907.
- Haasnoot, M., Kwakkel, J. H., Walker, W. E., & Ter Maat, J. (2013). Dynamic adaptive policy pathways: A method for crafting robust decisions for a deeply uncertain world. Global environmental change, 23(2), 485-498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.12.006.
- Haasnoot, M., van Aalst, M., Rozenberg, J. et al. Investments under non-stationarity: economic evaluation of adaptation pathways. Climatic Change 161, 451–463 (2020b). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-019-02409-6
- Haasnoot, M., van't Klooster, S., & Van Alphen, J. (2018). Designing a monitoring system to detect signals to adapt to uncertain climate change. Global environmental change, 52, 273-285.
- Haasnoot, M., Warren, A., Kwakkel, J.H. (2019). Dynamic Adaptive Policy Pathways (DAPP). In: Marchau, V., Walker, W., Bloemen, P., Popper, S. (eds) Decision Making under Deep Uncertainty. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-05252-2_4.
- IPCC (2018). Annex I: glossary. In: Matthews R (ed) global warming of 1.5°C.
- IUCN. 2024. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2024-1. https://www.iucnredlist.org.

- Johannessen, Å., Van Veggel, W., Pernice, U. et al. (2024). Tailored financial arrangements, market analysis, bankable business plans and financial scalability plans for coastal restoration at the Pilots and beyond. Deliverable D3.3. EU Horizon 2020 REST-COAST Project, Grant agreement No 101037097.
- Jones, H. P., Hole, D. G., & Zavaleta, E. S. (2012). Harnessing nature to help people adapt to climate change. Nature climate change, 2(7), 504-509.
- Kriegler, E., O'Neill, B. C., Hallegatte, S., Kram, T., Lempert, R. J., Moss, R. H., & Wilbanks, T. (2012). The need for and use of socio-economic scenarios for climate change analysis: a new approach based on shared socio-economic pathways. *Global Environmental Change*, *22*(4), 807-822.
- Kwadijk, J. C., Haasnoot, M., Mulder, J. P., Hoogvliet, M. M., Jeuken, A. B., van der Krogt, R. A., ... & de Wit, M. J. (2010). Using adaptation tipping points to prepare for climate change and sea level rise: a case study in the Netherlands. Wiley interdisciplinary reviews: climate change, 1(5), 729-740.
- Lawrence, J., Bell, R., Blackett, P., Stephens, S., Allan, S., 2018. National guidance for adapting to coastal hazards and sea-level rise: anticipating change, when and how to change pathway. Environ. Sci. Policy 82, 100–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.01.012.
- Lenton, T. M., Held, H., Kriegler, E., Hall, J. W., Lucht, W., Rahmstorf, S., & Schellnhuber, H. J. (2008). Tipping elements in the Earth's climate system. Proceedings of the national Academy of Sciences, 105(6), 1786-1793.
- Mens, M. J. P., Kwakkel, J. H., de Jong, A., Thissen, W. A. H. & van der Sluijs, J. P. (2012). Begrippen rondom onzekerheid. Report for the National Research Knowledge for Climate. http://www.knowledgeforclimate.nl.
- Rosenzweig, C., & Solecki, W. (2014). Hurricane Sandy and adaptation pathways in New York: Lessons from a first-responder city. Global Environmental Change, 28, 395-408.
- Sánchez-Arcilla, A., et al. (2022). Barriers and enablers for upscaling coastal restoration. Nature-Based Solutions, Volume 2, 2022, 100032, ISSN 2772-4115. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2772411522000246
- Siebentritt, M.A. and Stafford Smith, M. (2016). A User's Guide to Applied Adaptation Pathways Version 1. Seed Consulting Services and CSIRO.
- Singh, C., Ford, J., Ley, D. et al. Assessing the feasibility of adaptation options: methodological advancements and directions for climate adaptation research and practice. Climatic Change 162, 255–277 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-020-02762-x.
- Singh, C., Iyer, S., New, M. G., Few, R., Kuchimanchi, B., Segnon, A. C., & Morchain, D. (2021). Interrogating 'effectiveness' in climate change adaptation: 11 guiding principles for adaptation research and practice. *Climate and Development*, 14(7), 650–664. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2021.1964937.
- Springer, J., Campese, J. and Nakangu, B. (2021). The Natural Resource Governance Framework Improving governance for equitable and effective conservation. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN. https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/documents/2021-031-En.pdf.
- Syvitski, J. P., Vörösmarty, C. J., Kettner, A. J., & Green, P. (2005). Impact of humans on the flux of terrestrial sediment to the global coastal ocean. science, 308(5720), 376-380.
- Van Buuren, A., Vreugdenhil, H., Van Popering-Verkerk, J., Ellen, G. J., van Leeuwen, C., & Breman, B. (2018). The pilot paradox: exploring tensions between internal and external success factors in Dutch climate adaptation projects. In B. Turnheim, P. Kivimaa, & F. Berkhout (Eds.), *Innovating Climate Governance: Moving Beyond Experiments* (pp. 145). Cambridge University Press.

- Van der Brugge, R., & Roosjen, R. (2015). An institutional and socio-cultural perspective on the adaptation pathways approach. *Journal of Water and Climate Change*, 6(4), 743-758.
- van Rhee, G., 2012. Handreiking Adaptief Deltamanagement.
- Van Vuuren, D. P., & Carter, T. R. (2014). Climate and socio-economic scenarios for climate change research and assessment: reconciling the new with the old. *Climatic change*, 122, 415-429.
- Walker, W. E., Haasnoot, M., & Kwakkel, J. H. (2013). Adapt or perish: A review of planning approaches for adaptation under deep uncertainty. *Sustainability*, *5*(3), 955-979.
- Werners, S.E., Wise, R.M., Butler, J.R.A., Totin, E. and Vincent, K. (2021). Adaptation pathways: A review of approaches and a learning framework. Environmental Science & Policy, 116, 266–275.
- Wise, R. M., Fazey, I., Smith, M. S., Park, S. E., Eakin, H. C., Van Garderen, E. A., & Campbell, B. (2014).
 Reconceptualising adaptation to climate change as part of pathways of change and response. Global environmental change, 28, 325-336.
- Zandvoort, M., et al. (2017). Adaptation pathways in planning for uncertain climate change: Applications in Portugal, the Czech Republic and the Netherlands. *Environmental Science & Policy* 78: 18-26.

Zorita S. et al., (2023) Resilience Pathway Handbook ARCH, D.6.4 of the European project ARCH.

References (Wadden Sea)

- Boorman, L.A. (2003). Saltmarsh Review. An overview of coastal saltmarshes, their dynamic and sensitivity characteristics for conservation and management. JNCC Report, No.334.
- Bunzel, D., Milker, Y., Müller-Navarra, K., Arz, H.W., Schmiedl, G. (2021). North Sea salt-marsh archives trace past storminess and climate variability. Global and Planetary Change, 198, 103403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2020.103403
- De Vries, B., Willemsen, P., Van Puijenbroek, M., Coumou, L., Baptist, M., Cleveringa, J., Dankers, P., Elschot, K. (2021). Salt marsh pilot Marconi – Monitoring results. Ecoshape. <u>https://www.ecoshape.org/app/uploads/sites/2/2016/07/MarconiSaltmarsh_ReportAnalysisSaltmars</u> <u>hDevelopment_220121_def.pdf</u>
- Deltares (2023). Effectmodule verzilting: risico index verzilting voor landbouw. 11209259-004.
- Ecoshape (2022). Pilot Kleirijperij: van slib tot dijk WP 5.1 Eindrapportage Kleirijperij: Kennis en ervaring over het omzetten van slib naar klei voor toepassing in bouwprojecten. Retrieved on 1-8-2024, from: https://www.ecoshape.org/app/uploads/sites/3/2017/07/WP-5.1-Eindrapportage-Kleirijperij.pdf
- Elschot, K. & Baptist, M.J. (2016). Pilot kleirijperij en klutenplas in de Dollardkwelders; een verkenning van de locale natuurwaarden, dimensies van de klutenplas en verwachte korte- en lange-termijn effecten. *Wageningen Marine Research*, Wageningen UR (University & Research Centre), rapport C101/16.
- Elschot, K., Baptist, M.J. and Van Puijenbroek, M.E.B. (2023). Biocompacting livestock accelerate drowning of tidal marshes with sea level rise. Frontiers of Marine Science, 10: 1129811.
- Erwin, R.M., Sanders, G.M., Prosser, D.J. and Cahoon, D.R. (2006). High tides and rising seas: potential effects on estuarine waterbirds. In: Terrestrial vertebrates of tidal marshes: evolution, ecology, and conservation (eds. Greenberg, R., Maldonado, J., Droege, S. and McDonald, M.V.). *Studies in Avian Biology*, 32, 214-228. Cooper Ornithological Society, Camarillo, CA.

- Fagherazzi, S., Kirwan, M.L., Mudd, S.M., Guntenspergen, G.R., Temmerman, S., D'Alpaos, A., Van de Koppel, J., Rybczyck, J.M., Reyes, E., Craft, C. Clough, J. (2012). Numerical models of salt marsh evolution: Ecological, geomorphic, and climatic factors. *Reviews of Geophysics*, 50(1), RG1002.
- Gadsden, G.I., Peters, K. and Dajka, J-C. (2022) Academic Engagement with Wadden Sea Stakeholders: A Review of Past Foci and Possible Futures. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 9:816609. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.816609
- Guzman, C.B., Buffington, K.J., Thorne, K.M., Guntenspergen, G.R., Hummel, M.A., Stacey, M.T. (2023). Future Marsh Evolution Due to Tidal Changes Induced by Human Adaptation to Sea Level Rise. Earth's Future, 11(9), https://doi.org/10.1029/2023EF003518
- Kirwan, M.L., Megonigal, J. (2013). Tidal wetland stability in the face of human impacts and sea-level rise. Nature, 504, 53-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12856</u>
- Kirwan, M.L., Temmerman, S., Skeehan, E.E., Guntenspergen, G.R. and Fagherazzi, S. (2016). Overestimation of marsh vulnerability to sea level rise. Nature Climate Change, 6, 253-260. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2909
- Kirwan, M.L., Temmerman, S., Skeehan, E.E., Guntenspergen, G.R. and Fagherazzi, S. (2016). Overestimation of marsh vulnerability to sea level rise. Nature Climate Change, 6, 253-260. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2909
- KNMI (2023). KNMI'23-klimaatscenario's voor Nederland, KNMI, De Bilt, KNMI-Publication 23-03.
- Leuven, J.R.F.W., Pierik, H.J., Van der Vegt, M., Bouma, T.J. and Kleinhans, M.G. (2019). Sea-level-riseinduced threats depend on the size of tide-influenced estuaries worldwide. *Nature Climate Change*, 9, 986-992.
- Marijnissen, R. J. C., Kok, M., Kroeze, C. and Van Loon-Steensma, J. (2020). The Sensitivity of a Dike-Marsh System to Sea-Level Rise – A model-Based Exploration. Journal of Marine Science and Engineering, 8(1), 42.
- Pannozzo, N., Leonardi, N., Carnacina, I., Smedley, R. (2021). Salt Marsh Resilience to Sea-Level Rise and Increased Storm Intensity. Coastal Dynamics, DOI:10.4233/uuid:d44bc4b4-e4b5-4a96-a316-8553c81faba9
- RIVM (2023). Waterbeschikbaarheid voor de bereiding van drinkwater tot 2030 knelpunten en oplossingsrichtingen. Rijksinstituut voor voor Volksgezondheid, Welzijn en Sport. Retrieved on 9-12-2024, from: https://www.rivm.nl/bibliotheek/rapporten/2023-0005.pdf
- Schuerch, M., Vafeidis, A., Thomas, S., Temmerman, S. (2013). Modeling the influence of changing storm patterns on the ability of a salt marsh to keep pace with sea level. Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres, 118(1).
- Sweco (2022). Verziltingsrisico Dubbele Dijk Memo 'Verziltingsrisico'. Retrieved on 1-8-2024, from: https://eemsdollard2050.nl/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Onderzoeksrapport-Sweco-Verziltingsrisico-Dubbele-Dijk_maart-2022.pdf
- Talke, A. and de Swart, E., (2006). Hydrodynamics and Morphology in the Ems/Dollard Estuary: Review of Models, Measurements, Scientific Literature, and the Effects of Changing Conditions. Civil and Environmental Engineering Faculty Publications and Presentations. 87. http://archives.pdx.edu/ds/psu/11193.

Technische Adviescommissie voor de Waterkeringen. (1996). Technisch rapport Klei voor dijken.

- Temmerman, S., Govers, G., Meire, P. & Wartel, S. (2003). Long-term tidal marsh growth under changing tidal conditions and suspended sediment concentrations, Scheldt estuary, Belgium. Marine Geology, 193: 151-169.
- Van Maren, D.S., Oost, A.P., Wang, Z.B., & Vos, P.C. (2016). The effect of land reclamations and sediment extraction on the suspended sediment concentration in the Ems Estuary. Marine Geology, 376, 147-157.
- Marijnissen, R.J.C., van Maren, D.S., Schrijvershof, R.A., & van Weerdenburg, R.J.A. (in preparation). Role of morphological feedbacks on the effectiveness of Nature-based solutions in the Ems Estuary. In D2.3 Scaling up: Risk reduction as a function of active/passive restoration scale in the Pilots.
- Vermeersen, B.L.A., Slangen, A.B.A., Gerkema, T., Baart, F., Cohen, K.M., Dangendorf, S., Duran-Matute, M., Frederikse, T., Grinsted, A. and Hijma, M.P., Jevrejeva, S., Kiden, P., Kleinherenbrink, M., Meijles, E.W., Palmer, M.D., Rietbroek, R., Riva, R.E.M., Schulz, E., Slobbe, D.C., Simpson, M.J.R., Sterlini, P., Stocchi, P., Van de Wal., R.S.W. and Van der Wegen, M. (2018) Sea-level change in the Dutch Wadden Sea. Netherlands Journal of Geosciences, 97(3), 79-127. doi:10.1017/njg.2018.7
- Vinent, O.D., Herbert, E.R., Coleman, D.J., Himmelstein, J.D. and Kirwan, M.L. (2021). Onset of runaway fragmentation of salt marshes. One Earth, 4, 506-516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2021.02.013
- Vroom, J., Van Maren, B., Schmidt, C. (2024) De slibdynamiek in het Eems-estuarium Een heldere beschrijving van veranderingen door de eeuwen heen. *Deltares*, 11208080-000-ZKS-0001.

References (Venice Lagoon)

- Berto, D., Bidinotto, P., Bonometto, A., Boscolo Brusà, R., Buosi, A., Cerasuolo, C., Checchin, E., Curiel, D., De Marchi, M., Facca, C., Fiengo, G., Franzoi, P., Gion, C., Juhmani, A. S., Miotti, C., Oselladore, F., Pace, M., Pavanello, F., Pierini, A., ... Zaggia, L. (2019). La transparenza a salvaguardia di Venezia. Quaderni della laguna.
- Bonometto, L. (2003). ECOLOGIA APPLICATA E RIPRISTINO AMBIENTALE NELLA LAGUNA DI VENEZIA: ANALISI E CLASSIFICAZIONE FUNZIONALE DELLE "BARENE" E DELLE TIPOLOGIE DI INTERVENTO SULLE BARENE. 1–235.
- Brotto, M. (2011). Progetto MOSE Piano delle misure di compensazione , conservazione e riqualificazione ambientale dei SIC-ZPS IT3250003 e IT3250023 ; dei SIC IT3250030 e IT3250031 e della ZPS IT3250046 – QUADRO AGGIORNATO.
- Cappucci, S. (2002). THE STABILITY AND EVOLUTION OF AN INTERTIDAL FLAT IN VENICE LAGOON, ITALY. Sergio (Issue July).
- Carniello, L., Defina, A., & D'Alpaos, L. (2009). Morphological evolution of the Venice lagoon: Evidence from the past and trend for the future. Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface, 114(F4), 4002. https://doi.org/10.1029/2008JF001157
- Consorzio Venezia Nuova, CORILA, & Giulia, I. provveditorato interregionale per le opere pubbliche del V. T. A. A. e F. V. (2016). Piano per il recupero morfologico e ambientale della laguna di Venezia -Documento di Piano.
- Curiel, D., Pavelić, S. K., Kovačev, A., Miotti, C., & Rismondo, A. (2021). Marine seagrasses transplantation in confined and coastal adriatic environments: Methods and results. Water (Switzerland), 13(16). https://doi.org/10.3390/w13162289

- D'Alpaos, A., Tognin, D., Tommasini, L., D'Alpaos, L., Rinaldo, A., and Carniello, L.: Statistical characterization of erosion and sediment transport mechanics in shallow tidal environments Part 1: Erosion dynamics, Earth Surf. Dynam., 12, 181–199, https://doi.org/10.5194/esurf-12-181-2024, 2024.
- Defendi, V., Kovačević, V., Arena, F., & Zaggia, L. (2010). Estimating sediment transport from acoustic measurements in the Venice Lagoon inlets. Continental Shelf Research, 30(8), 883–893. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2009.12.004
- Deheyn, D. D., & Shaffer, L. R. (2007). Saving Venice: Engineering and ecology in the Venice lagoon. Technology in Society, 29(2), 205–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2007.01.014
- Fagherazzi, S., Mariotti, G., Leonardi, N., Canestrelli, A., Nardin, W., & Kearney, W. S. (2020). Salt Marsh Dynamics in a Period of Accelerated Sea Level Rise. Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface, 125(8), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019JF005200
- Fagherazzi, S., Wiberg, P. L., Temmerman, S., Struyf, E., Zhao, Y., & Raymond, P. A. (2013). Fluxes of water, sediments, and biogeochemical compounds in salt marshes. In Ecological Processes (Vol. 2, Issue 1, pp. 1–16). Springer Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1186/2192-1709-2-3
- Finotello, A., Marani, M., Carniello, L., Pivato, M., Roner, M., Tommasini, L., & D'alpaos, A. (2020). Control of wind-wave power on morphological shape of salt marsh margins. Water Science and Engineering, 13(1), 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wse.2020.03.006
- Finotello, A., Tognin, D., Carniello, L., Ghinassi, M., Bertuzzo, E., & D'Alpaos, A. (2023). Hydrodynamic feedbacks of salt-marsh loss in the shallow microtidal back-barrier lagoon of Venice (Italy). Water Resources Research, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1029/2022wr032881
- Gedan, K. B., Kirwan, M. L., Wolanski, E., Barbier, E. B., & Silliman, B. R. (2011). The present and future role of coastal wetland vegetation in protecting shorelines: Answering recent challenges to the paradigm. In Climatic Change (Vol. 106, Issue 1, pp. 7–29). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-010-0003-7
- Hudson, R., Kenworthy, J., & Best, M. (2021). Saltmarsh restoration handbook: UK and Ireland (Issue November). https://catchmentbasedapproach.org/wpcontent/uploads/2021/10/Saltmarsh_Restoration_Handbook_FINAL_20210311.pdf
- Janowski, L., Madricardo, F., Fogarin, S., Kruss, A., Molinaroli, E., Kubowicz-Grajewska, A., & Tegowski, J. (2020). Spatial and temporal changes of tidal inlet using object-based image analysis of multibeam echosounder measurements: A case from the Lagoon of Venice, Italy. Remote Sensing, 12(13). https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12132117
- Marani, M., D'Alpaos, A., Lanzoni, S., Carniello, L., & Rinaldo, A. (2007). Biologically-controlled multiple equilibria of tidal landforms and the fate of the Venice lagoon. Geophysical Research Letters, 34(11). https://doi.org/10.1029/2007GL030178
- Munaretto, S., & Huitema, D. (2012). Adaptive comanagement in the Venice lagoon? An analysis of current water and environmental management practices and prospects for change. Ecology and Society, 17(2). https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-04772-170219
- Neijnens, F. K., Siteur, K., van de Koppel, J., & Rietkerk, M. (2021). Early Warning Signals for Rate-induced Critical Transitions in Salt Marsh Ecosystems. Ecosystems, 24(8), 1825–1836. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-021-00610-2
- Ravera, O. (2000). The Lagoon of Venice : the result of both natural factors and human influence. In J. Limnol (Vol. 59, Issue 1).

- Rova, S., Stocco, A., & Pranovi, F. (2022). Ecosystem services' capacity and flow in the Venice Lagoon and the relationship with ecological status. One Ecosystem, 7, e79715. https://doi.org/10.3897/oneeco.7.e79715
- Sarretta, A., Pillon, S., Molinaroli, E., Guerzoni, S., & Fontolan, G. (2010). Sediment budget in the Lagoon of Venice, Italy. Continental Shelf Research, 30(8), 934–949. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2009.07.002
- Seminara, G., Lanzoni, S., & Cecconi, G. (2011). Coastal wetlands at risk: Learning from Venice and New Orleans. Ecohydrology and Hydrobiology, 11(3–4), 183–202. https://doi.org/10.2478/v10104-011-0040-5
- Sfriso, A., Bonometto, A., Boscolo, R., Buosi, A., Facca, C., Franzoi, P., Oselladore, F., Parravicini, M., Ponis, E., Scapin, L., Siega, A., & Volpe, V. (2017). Trapianto delle piante acquatiche per il ripristino dell'habitat lagune costiere. Linee Guida Dall'Esperienza del progetto life Natura SeResto (Vol. 6, Issue 1).

http://repositorio.unan.edu.ni/2986/1/5624.pdf%0Ahttp://fiskal.kemenkeu.go.id/ejournal%0Ahttp:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cirp.2016.06.001%0Ahttp://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.powtec.2016.12.055%0Ahttps:// /doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfatigue.2019.02.006%0Ahttps://doi.org/10.1

- Sfriso, Adriano, Buosi, A., Tomio, Y., Juhmani, A. S., Facca, C., Sfriso, A. A., Franzoi, P., Scapin, L., Bonometto, A., Ponis, E., Rampazzo, F., Berto, D., Gion, C., Oselladore, F., Cacciatore, F., & Brusà, R. B. (2019).
 Aquatic angiosperm transplantation: A tool for environmental management and restoring in transitional water systems. Water (Switzerland), 11(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/w11102135
- Solidoro, C., Bandelj, V., Bernardi, F., Camatti, E., Ciavatta, S., Cossarini, G., Facca, C., Franzoi, P., Libralato, S., Canu, D., Pastres, R., Pranovi, F., Raicevich, S., Socal, G., Sfriso, A., Sigovini, M., Tagliapietra, D., & Torricelli, P. (2010). Response of the Venice Lagoon Ecosystem to Natural and Anthropogenic Pressures over the Last 50 Years (pp. 483–511). https://doi.org/10.1201/ebk1420088304-c19
- Tagliapietra, D., Baldan, D., Barausse, A., Buosi, A., Curiel, D., Guarneri, I., Pessa, G., Rismondo, A., Sfriso, A., Smania, D., & Volpi Ghirardini, A. (2018). Protecting and restoring the salt marshes and seagrasses in the lagoon of Venice. http://journal.um-surabaya.ac.id/index.php/JKM/article/view/2203
- Tambroni, N., & Seminara, G. (2006). Are inlets responsible for the morphological degradation of Venice Lagoon? Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface, 111(3). https://doi.org/10.1029/2005JF000334
- Tognin, D., D'Alpaos, A., Marani, M., & Carniello, L. (2021). Marsh resilience to sea-level rise reduced by storm-surge barriers in the Venice Lagoon. Nature Geoscience, 14(12), 906–911. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-021-00853-7

References (Ebro Delta)

- Ali, E., W. Cramer, J. Carnicer, E. Georgopoulou, N.J.M. Hilmi, G. Le Cozannet, and P. Lionello, (2022). Cross-Chapter Paper 4: Mediterranean Region Supplementary Material. In: Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, B. Rama (eds.)]. Available from https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/.
- Day, J.W., Maltby, E., Ibañez, C., (2006). River basin management and delta sustainability: a commentary on the Ebro delta and the Spanish national hydrological plan. Ecological Engineering 26, 85-99. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoleng.2005.01.005.
- Fennessy, M. S., Ibáñez, C., Calvo-Cubero, J., Sharpe, P., Rovira, A., Callaway, J., & Caiola, N. (2019). Environmental controls on carbon sequestration, sediment accretion, and elevation change in the

Ebro River Delta: Implications for wetland restoration. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 222,* 32-42.

- Genua-Olmedo, A., Temmerman, S., Ibáñez, C., & Alcaraz, C. (2022). Evaluating adaptation options to sea level rise and benefits to agriculture: the Ebro Delta showcase. *Science of The Total Environment*, *806*, 150624.
- Genua-Olmedo, A., Alcaraz, C., Caiola, N., & Ibáñez, C. (2016). Sea level rise impacts on rice production: The Ebro Delta as an example. *Science of The Total Environment*, *571*, 1200-1210.
- Ibáñez, C., Sharpe, P.J., Day, J.W., Day, J.N., Prat, N., (2010). Vertical accretion and relative sea level rise in the Ebro Delta Wetlands (Catalonia, Spain). Wetlands, 30, 979–988. DOI: 10.1007/s13157-010-0092-0.
- Ibáñez, C., Day, J.W., Reyes, E., (2014). The response of deltas to sea-level rise: Natural mechanisms and management options to adapt to high-end scenarios. Ecological Engineering, 65, 122-130. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoleng.2013.08.002.
- Ibáñez, C., Caiola, N., & Belmar, O. (2020). Environmental flows in the lower Ebro River and Delta: Current status and guidelines for a holistic approach. *Water*, *12*(10), 2670.
- Ibáñez, C. and Caiola, N., (2021). Sea-level rise, marine storms and the resilience of Mediterranean coastal wetlands: lessons learned from the Ebro Delta. Marine and Freshwater Research, 10: 1246-1254. DOI: 10.1071/MF21140.
- Prado, P., Alcaraz, C., Benito, X., Caiola, N., & Ibáñez, C. (2019). Pristine vs. human-altered Ebro Delta habitats display contrasting resilience to RSLR. *Science of the Total Environment*, *655*, 1376-1386.
- Rovira, A. and Ibáñez, C., (2007). Sediment management options for the lower Ebro River and its Delta. J Soils Sediments, 7: 285–295. DOI: 10.1065/jss2007.08.244.
- Sánchez-Arcilla, A., García-León, M., Gracia, V., Devoy, R., Stanica, A., Gault, J., (2016). Managing coastal environments under climate change: pathways to adaptation. Sci. Total Environ. 572: 1336–52. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.01.124.
- Sayol, J. M., & Marcos, M. (2018). Assessing flood risk under sea level rise and extreme sea levels scenarios: application to the ebro delta (Spain). *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans*, 123(2), 794-811.

Appendix 1 Governance indicators

Pilot / region level		
Governance structure and legal	The legal alignment of policy frameworks and institutional	
alignment	arrangements at various (vertical) levels, such as local, regional,	
	Structure' and Adaptation Bathways)	
Diversity of knowledge.	Natural resource governance is grounded in sound and diverse forms	
cultures and institutions	of knowledge and respect for diverse cultures, values and practices.	
	(Source: IUCN)	
Strategic vision, learning and	Natural resource governance is guided by an overall vision of desired	
direction	environmental and social outcomes, and allows for adaptation in	
	response to learning and changing conditions. (Source: IUCN)	
Coordination and coherence	Actors involved in or affecting natural resource governance coordinate	
	(Source: IUCN. Adaptation Pathways)	
Grievance and conflict	People are able to seek and obtain remedies for grievances and resolve	
resolution (trust)	conflicts regarding land and natural resources. <i>Source: IUCN, Wadden</i>	
	Sea pilot)	
Drivers of change: urgency +	The collective understanding that there is a problem or crisis (flood	
liveability/wellbeing	threat etc.) is considered an important driver for collaboration. This	
	a culture of societal responsibility Likewise if people perceive the	
	action is aligned with their own goals of liveability (love, work, leisure),	
	stakeholders can get engaged more easily as this resonates with their	
	own realities. (Source: Wadden Sea pilot)	
Devolution	Decisions are taken at the lowest possible level appropriate to the	
	social and ecological systems being governed, with particular attention	
	communities in natural resource governance (Source: IIICN)	
Accountability	Actors responsible for or affecting natural resource governance are	
	accountable for their actions and the environmental and social impacts	
	they produce. (Source: IUCN)	
Project / measure level		
Inclusive and effective decision-	Decision-making regarding natural resource policies and practices is	
making	stakeholders with particular attention to the voice and inclusion of	
	rights-holders and groups at risk of marginalization. (Source: IUCN,	
	Pilot Paradox)	
Recognition and respect for	Rights to lands, resources and waters are recognised and respected,	
tenure rights	with particular attention to the customary, collective rights of	
	Indigenous peoples and local communities, and to women's tenure	
Capacity and skills (working	rights. (Source: IUCN)	
processes, collaboration for	can enable actors to plan, implement, and maintain measures and	
implementation)	systems. When innovations are introduced, new capacity and training	
	is needed. For example, new capacities for implementing adaptation	
	include capacity to integrate risk considerations in spatial planning	
	processes. (Source: Adaptation Pathways)	

Technical and organisational feasibility	The adoption of innovative measures such as Nature based Solutions is an opportunity but can also encounter resistance as they do not align with existing technical and organizational procedures. Changing these procedures is necessary to make implementation feasible. Several actors in the implementation chain need coordination to help change things like Standard Operational Procedures. <i>(Source: Adaptation Pathways)</i>
Leadership	Leadership skills are increasingly understood as the ability to form collaborative partnerships, joint agreements, etc. to support collaborative governance, collective leadership and collective impact approaches. Effective adaptation to climate change will require the coordinated effort of all actors at all scales. Collaboration and genuine partnership between actors are therefore essential. (Source: Pilot Paradox)
Experimentation and learning	Experimentation, learning, and reflection that helps adapt strategies and plans is of crucial importance. De-learning and re-evaluation of assumptions and working objectives is necessary for changing course when one pathway or strategy turns out to be untenable in the long run. In enabling learning processes between people with different backgrounds and perspectives, it is known by for example mediators and negotiators that some environments are better than others for bringing about learning, such as open communication, facilitation, constructive conflict, multiple sources of knowledge, unrestrained thinking, and diverse participation etc. (Source: Pilot Paradox, P2R)

Appendix 2 Overview of key indicators for EWS and TPS (Wadden Sea)

Measures	Early warning signals (biophysical)	Tipping points (biophysical)
A1 Sediment removal (from harbor) Based on Modelling	Sediment extraction is causing ecological degradation and ESS loss: Erosion- caused by e.g. altered sediment supply (clay extraction elsewhere); habitat destruction or biodiversity loss	Sediment extraction is causing ecological degradation and ESS loss: Erosion- caused by e.g. altered sediment supply (clay extraction elsewhere); habitat destruction or biodiversity loss
A2 Farmland raising with local material Based on Literature Review	Lack of local sediment as land raising material (same EW as A1); risk salt intrusion damage (chloride concentration of seepage ~1 g/L Higher probability of seawater intrusion in pastures with sand layers; avoiding seawater intrusion requires precipitation lens of min 100 mm freshwater ^[1] and thickness of min. 1.25 m ^[1] ; saltwater intrusion can negatively impact crop growth and can decrease water quality (saltwater may promote nutrients that can increase algae growth)	Lack of local sediment as land raising material (same TP as A1); risk salt intrusion damage (chloride concentration of seepage >1 g/L Higher probability of seawater intrusion in pastures with sand layers. Precipitation lens of <100 mm freshwater ^[1] and thickness <1.25m ^[1] ; saltwater intrusion can cause a decrease in types of crops that produce a decent yield; land abandonment
A3 Farmland raising with other sources Based on Literature Review	Seawater intrusion	Seawater intrusion
A4 Aquaculture and saline agriculture Based on Literature Review	No EWS	Νο ΤΡ
B1 Facilitating natural deposition (PAGW) <i>Based on Modelling</i>	No EWS	Νο ΤΡ
B2 Clay ripening Based on Literature Review	Decreasing capacity for clay ripening due to changes in freshwater availability (e.g. in periods with precipitation deficit ^[2] that mostly occurs in summer period Apr- Sept) and salinity level (<4g/L/NaCl ^[2])	Lack of capacity for clay ripening due to changes in freshwater availability (e.g. in periods with precipitation deficit ^[2] that mostly occurs in summer period Apr- Sept) and salinity level (>4g/L/NaCl ^[2])
B3 Biodiverse dike reinforcement <i>Based on Literature</i> <i>Review</i>	Lack of sediment as construction material (based on A1 and B2); local criteria for dike construction must comply with erosion class II or I, have a consistency index of at least 0.6, material has to be naturally deposited, max. sand content of (<63 µm), <5% organic matter after hydrogen peroxide treatment, <25% lime content, <4g/L/NaCl salinity level, no significant admixture of rubble, gravel	Lack of sediment as construction material (based on A1 and B2); local criteria for dike construction must comply with erosion class II or I, have a consistency index of at least 0.6, material has to be naturally deposited, max. sand content of (<63 µm), <5% organic matter after hydrogen peroxide treatment, <25% lime content, <4g/L/NaCl salinity level, no significant admixture of rubble, gravel (<40% sand

	(<40% sand content), slight to no discoloration of clay material ^[3]	content), slight to no discoloration of clay material ^[3]
B4 Coastal protection with other measures Based on Literature Review	No EWS	Νο ΤΡ
C1 Tidal area restoration (with culvert in the sea dike and saltmarsh within the dike) Based on Modelling	Intertidal area clogging; 1 point decrease in ESS scores, due to increasing flood risk and coastal erosion	Changing from intertidal to subtidal area (SLR); 2 point decrease in ESS scores, due to increasing flood risk and coastal erosion
C2 Saltmarsh outside the dikes Based on Literature Review	Insufficient fine sediment (<63 μm) for saltmarsh development (min. suspended sediment concentration ~200 mg/L ^[4]); decreasing water quality (oxygen, pollutants, algal blooms, nutrient levels); tidal range <2 m ^[5] ; SLR – threshold between 10-50 mm/y ^[4]	Insufficient fine sediment (<63 μm) for saltmarsh development (min. suspended sediment concentration ~200 mg/L ^[4]); tidal range < 2 m ^[5] ; SLR – saltmarshes drowned at > 50 mm/y ^[4]
C3 Nesting islands Based on Literature Review	SLR – nesting islands submerged at storm tides (mean high water > 1.5m) (inundation frequency of 13 times yearly ^[6]) resulting in nest loss, shifting of nest locations and decline in adult fitness (e.g. disease outbreaks); loss of foraging possibilities for migratory birds Increased sightings of invasive species, predators; Storm events (~9.9 times annually with peak residual water levels of ~1 m) ^[8]	SLR – nesting islands completely submerged (~2.7m) ^[7] Habitat degradation e.g. invasive species or poor water quality; Storm events (>9.9 times annually with peak residual water levels of ~1 m) ^[8]

Sources: [1] Sweco (2022), [2] Ecoshape (2022), [3] Technische Adviescommissie voor de Waterkeringen (1996), [4] Marijnissen *et al.*, 2020), [5] Kirwan *et al.*, (2016), [6] Elschot *et al.*, (2023), [7] Boorman (2003), [8] Schuerch *et al.*, (2013),